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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report, including, without limitation, statements under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the
words “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will,” “potential,” “projects,” “predicts,” “continue,”
“could” or “should,” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, although not all forward-looking
statements are accompanied by such terms. There can be no assurance that actual results will not materially differ from
expectations. Such statements include, but are not limited to, any statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current
expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, financial or operational
prospects, growth, strategies and the industry in which we operate, and any other statements that are not statements of current or
historical facts.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Although we base these forward-looking statements on assumptions that
we believe are reasonable when made, we caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance
and that our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and developments in the industry in which we operate,
may differ materially from those made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this report. In addition,
even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and developments in the industry in which we operate, are
consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this report, those results or developments may not be indicative of
results or developments in subsequent periods. These statements are based on management’s current expectations, but actual
results may differ materially due to various factors, including, but not limited to those described in the “Risk Factors” section of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on March 6, 2023 (the “Form 10-K”), and in subsequent reports that we file with the SEC, including this Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2023, as well as the following:

● our ability to continue as a going concern, which requires us to manage costs and obtain significant additional
funding;

● our ability to timely resolve our dispute with Foxconn (as defined below) regarding the matters asserted in the
Foxconn Notices (as defined below), and to receive the proceeds we expected under the Investment Agreement (as
defined bellow) and risks related to the substantial costs and diversion of personnel’s attention and resources due to
these matters;

● our ability to timely obtain necessary funding to continue our operations;
● our ability to continue production of the Endurance;
● the impact of the uncertainty with respect to our relationship with Foxconn and our prospects for additional funding

on our supplier arrangements and on our employees;
● the cost and other impacts of contingent liabilities, such as current and future litigation, claims, regulatory

proceedings, investigations, complaints, product liability claims and stockholder demand letters, and availability of
insurance coverage and/or adverse publicity with respect to these matters, which may have a material adverse
effect, whether or not successful or valid, on our liquidity position, market price of our stock, cash projections,
business prospects and ability and timeframe to obtain financing (see Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies);

● our ability to effectively implement and realize the benefits from our transactions and agreements with Foxconn, if
pending disputes are resolved, which depend on many variables that include establishment of the EV Program (as
defined below) budget and EV Program milestones and satisfaction of such milestones and other conditions required
to be met at the time of funding, and our ability to utilize the designs, engineering data and other foundational work of
Foxconn, its affiliates, and other members of the Mobility-in-Harmony (“MIH”) consortium as well as other parties,
and that all such parties adhere to timelines to develop, commercialize, industrialize, homologate and certify a
vehicle in North America, along with variables that are out of the parties' control, such as technology, innovation,
adequate funding, supply chain and other economic



4

conditions, competitors, customer demand and other factors (see Note 1 — Description of Organization and
Business Operations and Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share);

● our ability to successfully address known and unknown performance, quality, supply chain and other launch-related
issues, some of which are or may be material or may require additional recalls or retrofits of the Endurance, and
continue commercial production and sales of the Endurance;

● the risk that additional elements of our technology, including our hub motors, do not perform as expected in the near
or longer-term;

● our ability to maintain appropriate supplier relationships, including for our critical components, and the risks with
respect to the terms of such arrangements due to our limited production volumes and any minimum quantity
requirements, and our ability to establish our supply chain to support new vehicle programs;

● our ability to facilitate cost-effective production of the Endurance, which requires a strategic partner and significant
additional capital, including to invest in the tooling to lower the bill of materials cost (“BOM”), continue design
enhancements and enable scaled production;

● the impact of our non-compliance with Nasdaq’s Bid Price Requirement (as defined below) and our ability to regain
compliance as a result of the reverse stock split which we have proposed for approval by our stockholders at our
annual meeting;

● our ability to execute our business plan, strategic alliances and other opportunities, including development and
market acceptance of our planned products;

● risks related to our limited operating history, the execution of our business plan and the timing of expected business
milestones, including the ability to effectively utilize existing tooling, a substantial portion of which is soft tooling not
intended for long term production;

● our ongoing ability to secure and receive vehicle components from our supply chain in sufficient quantities to meet
production volume plans and of acceptable quality to meet vehicle requirements;

● the availability and cost of raw materials and components, particularly in light of current supply chain disruptions and
labor concerns, inflation, and the consequences of any shortages on our ability to produce saleable vehicles;

● our ability to successfully identify and implement actions to significantly lower the Endurance BOM cost, including
identifying a strategic partner to scale the Endurance;

● our ability to obtain binding purchase orders and build customer relationships, and the impact of the uncertainty
regarding our relationship with Foxconn has on our ability to obtain binding purchase orders;

● our ability to deliver on the expectations of customers with respect to the pricing, performance, quality, reliability,
safety and efficiency of the Endurance and to provide the levels of after sale service, support and warranty coverage
that they will require, and the impact of performance issues, production pauses and delays and recalls on consumer
confidence and interest in our vehicles;

● our ability to conduct business using a direct sales model, rather than through a dealer network used by most other
original equipment manufacturers;

● the effects of competition on our ability to market and sell vehicles;
● our ability to attract and retain key personnel and hire additional personnel particularly in light of the uncertainty

regarding our Foxconn relationship;
● the pace and depth of electric vehicle adoption generally;
● our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection and not infringe on the

rights of others;
● our ability to obtain required regulatory approvals and comply with changes in laws, regulatory requirements,

interpretations of existing laws and governmental incentives;
● the impact of health epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, on our business, the other risks we face and the

actions we may take in response thereto;
● cybersecurity threats and breaches and compliance with privacy and data protection laws;
● failure to timely implement and maintain adequate financial, information technology and management processes and

controls and procedures;
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● the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, geopolitical, business and/or competitive
factors, including rising interest rates, fuel and energy prices and the direct and indirect effects of the war in Ukraine;
and

● other risks and uncertainties described in this report, including those under the section entitled “Risk Factors,” and
that may be set forth in any subsequent filing, including under any similar caption.

As a result of these uncertainties, there is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. Our ability to
obtain additional financing is extremely limited under current market conditions, in particular for our industry, and also influenced
by other factors including the significant amount of capital required, the Foxconn dispute, the fact that the BOM cost of the
Endurance is currently, and expected to continue to be, substantially higher than our selling price, uncertainty surrounding the
performance of any vehicle produced by us, meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing litigation and
the SEC investigation, the Nasdaq Notice (as defined below), the market price of our stock and potential dilution from the
issuance of any additional securities. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow
us to continue operating as planned, identify other sources of substantial funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our
significant contingent liabilities, we may need to further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary
petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code” and such processes are collectively referred
to as “bankruptcy protection”). If this were to occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and
stockholders, is uncertain and trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by
holders of our securities in bankruptcy proceedings, if any.

In light of these risks and uncertainties, we caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Any
forward-looking statement that we make in this report speaks only as of the date of such statement, and we undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise,
except as may be required under applicable securities laws. Comparisons of results for current and any prior periods are not
intended to express any future trends or indications of future performance, unless specifically expressed as such, and should only
be viewed as historical data.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this report to the “Company,” “Lordstown,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms
refer to Lordstown Motors Corp. (f/k/a DiamondPeak Holdings Corp.) and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Legacy
Lordstown (as defined below)). References to “DiamondPeak” refer to our predecessor company prior to the consummation of
merger completed on October 23, 2020 pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 1, 2020 (the
“Business Combination Agreement”), by and among DiamondPeak, DPL Merger Sub Corp. (“Merger Sub”) and Lordstown Motors
Corp. (“Legacy Lordstown” and now known as Lordstown EV Corporation (as defined below)), pursuant to which Merger Sub
merged with and into Legacy Lordstown, with Legacy Lordstown surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
DiamondPeak (the “Merger” and, together with the other transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, the
“Business Combination”).
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PART I

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Balance Sheets

(in thousands except for share data)

(Unaudited)

    
March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

ASSETS:      
Current Assets         

Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,086 $ 121,358
Short-term investments 68,589 100,297
Inventory, net 6,340 13,672
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   9,028   20,548

Total current assets $ 192,043 $ 255,875
Property, plant and equipment, net   78,123   193,780
Other non-current assets 2,244 2,657

Total Assets $ 272,410 $ 452,312
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:          

Current Liabilities          
Accounts payable $ 8,431 $ 12,801
Accrued and other current liabilities   50,409   56,033

Total current liabilities $ 58,840 $ 68,834
Warrant and other non-current liabilities 889 1,446

Total liabilities $ 59,729 $ 70,280
Mezzanine equity

Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 12,000,000 shares
authorized; 300,000 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022 $ 30,866 $ 30,261

Stockholders’ equity          
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 450,000,000 shares authorized;
239,025,591 and 238,924,486 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, respectively $ 24 $ 24
Additional paid in capital   1,180,723   1,178,960
Accumulated deficit   (998,932)   (827,213)

Total stockholders’ equity $ 181,815 $ 351,771
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 272,410 $ 452,312

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lordstown Motors Corp.

Statements of Operations

(in thousands except for per share data)

 (unaudited)

    Three months ended     Three months ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Net sales $ 189 $ —
Cost of sales   30,811 —
Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses   14,687   26,019
Research and development expenses   14,425   61,864
Impairment of property plant & equipment and intangibles 114,440 —
Total operating expenses $ 143,552 $ 87,883

Loss from operations $ (174,174) $ (87,883)
Other income (expense)       

Other income (expense)   64   (1,492)
Interest income (expense)   2,391   (258)

Loss before income taxes $ (171,719) $ (89,633)
Income tax expense   —   —

Net loss (171,719) (89,633)
Less preferred stock dividend (605) —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (171,114) $ (89,633)
Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders              

Basic $ (0.71)     $ (0.46)
Diluted $ (0.71) $ (0.46)

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding              
Basic   239,754        196,503

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lordstown Motors Corp.
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficit)

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Additional Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Deficit
Balance at December 31, 2021 — $ — 196,391 $ 19 $ 1,084,390 $ (544,809) $ 539,600

Issuance of Class A common stock   — — 464 1 615 — 616
RSU vesting — — 125 — — — —
Stock compensation   — — — — 3,920 — 3,920
Net loss   — — — — — (89,633) (89,633)

Balance at March 31, 2022 — $ — 196,980 $ 20 $ 1,088,925 $ (634,442) $ 454,503

Additional Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2022 300 $ 30,261 238,924 $ 24 $ 1,178,960 $ (827,213) $ 351,771

Issuance of Class A common stock   — — —   —   —   —   —
RSU vesting — — 101 — (46) — (46)
Stock compensation — — — — 2,414 — 2,414
Accrual of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock dividends — 605 — — (605) — (605)
Net loss   — — —   —   —   (171,719)   (171,719)

Balance at March 31, 2023 300 $ 30,866 239,026 $ 24 $ 1,180,723 $ (998,932) $ 181,815

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lordstown Motors Corp.
Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Three months ended Three months ended
March 31, 2023    March 31, 2022

Cash flows from operating activities       
Net loss $ (171,719) $ (89,633)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used by operating activities:       
Stock-based compensation   2,414   3,920
Impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible assets 114,440 —
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 7,674 —
Write down of inventory and prepaid inventory 19,764 —
Other non-cash changes (1,085) 4,420

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Inventory (12,432) —
Prepaid expenses and other assets 12,822 9,987
Accounts payable (4,115) (1,490)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   (5,879)   3,763

Net Cash used in operating activities $ (38,116) $ (69,033)
Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchases of property plant and equipment $ (7,948) $ (21,896)
Purchases of short-term investments (22,208) —
Maturities of short-term investments 55,000 —

Net Cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 24,844 $ (21,896)
Cash flows from financing activities      

Down payments received from Foxconn — 50,000
Issuance of Class A common stock — 477

Net Cash provided by financing activities $ — $ 50,477
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (13,272) $ (40,452)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance   121,358   244,016
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance $ 108,086 $ 203,564
Non-cash items

Capital assets acquired with payables $ 256 $ 5,336

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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LORDSTOWN MOTORS CORP

NOTES TO INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

NOTE 1 — DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Description of Business

Lordstown Motors Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Lordstown,” the “Company” or “we”), is an original equipment manufacturer
(“OEM”) of electric light duty vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market. Since inception, we have been developing our
flagship vehicle, the Endurance, an electric full-size pickup truck.

Our strategy is designed to accelerate the launch of new commercial electric vehicles (“EVs”). This includes working on our own
vehicle programs as well as partnering with third parties, including Foxconn and its affiliates (as defined below), as we seek to
leverage our vehicle development experience, our proprietary and open-source code and other non-proprietary technologies, our
existing Endurance vehicle platform, and potentially new vehicle platforms to drive commonality and scale, and more efficiently
develop and launch EVs, to enhance capital efficiency and achieve profitability.

In the third quarter of 2022, the Company started commercial production of the Endurance with the first two vehicles completing
assembly in September. The Company subsequently completed homologation and testing and received required certifications
enabling us to record sales of the first three vehicles in the fourth quarter of 2022. Engineering readiness, quality and part
availability governed the initial timing and speed of the Endurance launch. The rate of Endurance production remained very low
during the fourth quarter of 2022 as we addressed launch-related issues that are often discovered as an entirely new vehicle
begins operating in new and different environments by customers. Those challenges continued into the first quarter of 2023 as
performance and quality issues with certain suppliers’ components led us to temporarily pause production and customer
deliveries until mid-April 2023. Some of these issues were discovered by us or our suppliers, though some were experienced by
our initial customers. In this regard, we filed paperwork with the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) to
voluntarily recall the Endurance to address these supplier quality issues. Production will remain at a very low rate as we continue
to address any remaining, and to the extent we discover new, Endurance performance and component quality issues, manage
ongoing supply chain constraints with key components, including hub motor components, and conserve funding given the high
BOM cost.

If we experience one or more of these or other factors in the future it could lead to additional pauses in vehicle builds or delivery
of completed vehicles, or future recalls. We continue to evaluate the merits of producing and selling vehicles to customers in
order to seed the commercial fleet market, demonstrate the capabilities of the Endurance, and support our OEM partnership
pursuits. Due to the production delays from early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a strategic partner for the
Endurance, and extremely limited ability to raise capital in the current market environment, we anticipate production of the
Endurance will cease in the near future.

Foxconn Transactions

The Company entered into a series of transactions with affiliates of Hon Hai Technology Group (“HHTG”, either HHTG or
applicable affiliates of HHTG are referred to herein as “Foxconn”), beginning with the Agreement in Principal that was announced
on September 30, 2021, pursuant to which we entered into definitive agreements to sell our manufacturing facility in Lordstown,
Ohio under an Asset Purchase Agreement (as defined below) and outsource manufacturing of the Endurance to Foxconn under a
Contract Manufacturing Agreement (as defined below). On November 7, 2022, we entered into an Investment Agreement with
Foxconn under which Foxconn agreed to make an additional equity investment in the Company (the “Investment Agreement”).
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The Asset Purchase Agreement, Contract Manufacturing Agreement and the Investment Agreement together are herein referred
to as the “Foxconn Transactions.”

Investment Agreement and Foxconn Notice

On November 7, 2022, the Company entered into the Investment Agreement under which Foxconn agreed to make additional
equity investments in the Company through the purchase of $70 million of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share
(“Class A common stock”), and up to $100 million in Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the
“Preferred Stock”), subject to certain conditions, including, without limitation, regulatory approvals and satisfaction of certain EV
Program budget and EV Program milestones established by the parties. The Preferred Stock funding may only be used in
connection with planning, designing, developing, engineering, testing, industrializing, certifying, homologating and launching one
or more EVs in collaboration with Foxconn (the “EV Program”). Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, the parties agreed to
terminate the Foxconn Joint Venture formed on May 11, 2022 (the “Foxconn Joint Venture”) and cause development activities to
be undertaken directly by us. (See Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share).

On November 22, 2022, the parties completed the initial closing under the Investment Agreement, pursuant to which Foxconn
purchased approximately $22.7 million of Class A common stock and $30 million of Preferred Stock (the “Initial Closing”).

The Investment Agreement provides for the second closing of Class A common stock (the “Subsequent Common Closing”), at
which time Foxconn is required to purchase approximately 26.9 million shares of Class A common stock for approximately $47.3
million. The Subsequent Common Closing is to occur within 10 business days following the parties’ receipt of a written 
communication from the U.S. government’s Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”) that CFIUS has 
concluded that there are no unresolved national security concerns with respect to the transactions (“CFIUS Clearance”) and 
subject to satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement (which the Company believes have been or 
will be satisfied). CFIUS Clearance was received on April 25, 2023, which means the Subsequent Common Closing is to occur on 
or before May 8, 2023. The Company is ready, willing and able to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on a timely basis.  

In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program budget and the EV Program milestones and satisfaction of those
EV Program milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn is to purchase in two tranches, a
total of 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share for aggregate proceeds of $70
million (the “Subsequent Preferred Funding”). The parties agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV
Program budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023.

The completion of the Subsequent Common Closing and the Subsequent Preferred Funding would provide critical liquidity for the
Company’s operations. On April 21, 2023, the Company received a letter from Foxconn (the “Foxconn Notice”) (1) asserting that
the Company was in breach of the Investment Agreement due to its previously disclosed receipt of a notice (the “Nasdaq Notice”)
from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) indicating that the Company was no
longer in compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Global Select Market (the
“Bid Price Requirement”) (see Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice) and (2) purporting to terminate the Investment
Agreement if the breach is not cured within 30 days. In response, the Company notified Foxconn in writing on April 25, 2023 that
(1) it believes the breach allegations in the Foxconn Notice are without merit, (2) the Investment Agreement, by its terms, does
not permit Foxconn to terminate it following the Initial Closing, and (3) in any event, Foxconn cannot exercise termination rights
because Foxconn has breached the Investment Agreement by failing to use necessary efforts to agree upon the EV Program
budget and EV Program milestones to facilitate the Subsequent Preferred Funding.

On May 1, 2023, after having publicly disclosed the Foxconn Notice, the Company received correspondence from Foxconn’s
counsel (the “Second Foxconn Notice” and, together with the Foxconn Notice, the “Foxconn
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Notices”) (1) indicating that Foxconn agrees that it is unable to terminate the Investment Agreement after the Initial Closing, (2)
asserting that the Nasdaq Notice constitutes a breach of a representation that is a condition to the Subsequent Common Closing
and, therefore, Foxconn is not obligated to consummate the Subsequent Common Closing until such breach is cured, and (3)
asserting that the Company’s claims regarding Foxconn’s breach of the Investment Agreement with respect to the EV Program
and Subsequent Preferred Funding are without merit.

The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to
complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and
remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones, its funding obligations and its knowing and intentional efforts to invalidly terminate the Investment
Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material detriment of the Company.

The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an
impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we
do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common
Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations.
The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not reached.

See Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Foxconn Notice.

Closing of the APA with Foxconn

On May 11, 2022, Lordstown EV Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Lordstown
EV”), closed the transactions contemplated by the asset purchase agreement with Foxconn EV Technology, Inc., an Ohio
corporation, and an affiliate of HHTG, dated November 10, 2021 (the “Asset Purchase Agreement” or “APA” and the closing of the
transactions contemplated thereby, the “APA Closing”).

Pursuant to the APA, Foxconn purchased Lordstown EV’s manufacturing facility located in Lordstown, Ohio. Lordstown EV
continues to own our hub motor assembly line, as well as our battery module and pack line assets, certain tooling, intellectual
property rights and other excluded assets, and outsources all of the manufacturing of the Endurance to Foxconn under the
Contract Manufacturing Agreement. Lordstown EV also entered into a lease pursuant to which Lordstown EV leases space
located at the Lordstown, Ohio facility from Foxconn for Lordstown EV’s Ohio-based employees for a term equal to the duration of
the Contract Manufacturing Agreement plus 30 days. The right of use asset and liability related to this lease is immaterial.

We received $257 million in proceeds related to the sale, consisting of the $230 million initial purchase price for the assets, plus
$8.9 million for expansion investments and an $18.4 million reimbursement payment for certain operating costs incurred by us
from September 1, 2021 through the APA Closing. Foxconn made down payments of the purchase price totaling $200 million
through April 15, 2022, of which $100 million was received in both 2022 and 2021. The $30 million balance of the purchase price
and a reimbursement payment of approximately $27.5 million were paid at the APA Closing; $17.5 million was attributable to the
reimbursement of certain operating expenses reported in research and development and $10 million was attributable to
expansion costs. Under the terms of the APA, the $17.5 million reimbursement costs were an estimate which upon final
settlement was subsequently increased to $18.4 million.

Research and development costs are presented net of the $18.4 million reimbursement of costs by Foxconn for the year ended
December 31, 2022. Included in the $18.4 million reimbursement were approximately $7.7 million of research and development
costs incurred in 2021. Also, in connection with the APA Closing, the Company issued the Foxconn Warrants, which are
exercisable until the third anniversary of the APA
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Closing for 1.7 million shares of Class A common stock at an exercise price of $10.50 per share (the “Foxconn Warrants”). In
October 2021, prior to entering into the APA, Foxconn purchased 7.2 million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock for
approximately $50.0 million.

Contract Manufacturing Agreement

On May 11, 2022, Lordstown EV and Foxconn entered into a manufacturing supply agreement (the “Contract Manufacturing
Agreement” or “CMA”) in connection with the APA Closing. Pursuant to the Contract Manufacturing Agreement, Foxconn (i)
manufactures the Endurance at the Lordstown facility for a fee per vehicle, (ii) following a transition period, procures components
for the manufacture and assembly of the Endurance, subject to sourcing specifications provided by Lordstown EV, and (iii)
provides certain post-delivery services. To date, Foxconn has not begun to provide the aforementioned procurement and post
delivery services. The CMA provides us with an almost entirely variable manufacturing cost structure and alleviates us of the
burden to invest in and maintain the Lordstown facility.

The CMA requires Foxconn to use commercially reasonable efforts to assist with reducing component and logistics costs and
reducing the overall BOM cost of the Endurance, and otherwise improving the commercial terms of procurement with suppliers.
However, to date, we have not realized any material reduction of raw material or component costs or improvement in commercial
terms based on Foxconn’s actions. Foxconn is required to conduct testing in accordance with procedures established by us and
we are generally responsible for all motor vehicle regulatory compliance and reporting. The Contract Manufacturing Agreement
also allocates responsibility between the parties for other matters, including component defects, quality assurance and warranties
of manufacturing and design. Foxconn invoices us for manufacturing costs on a fee per vehicle produced basis, and to the extent
purchased by Foxconn, component and other costs. Production volume and scheduling are based upon rolling weekly forecasts
we provide that are generally binding only for a 12-week period, with some ability to vary the quantities of vehicle type.

The CMA became effective on May 11, 2022 and continues for an initial term of 18 months plus a 12-month notice period in the
event either party seeks to terminate the agreement. In the event neither party terminates the Contract Manufacturing Agreement
following the initial term, it will continue on a month-to-month basis unless terminated upon 12 months’ prior notice. The CMA can
also be terminated by either party due to a material breach of the agreement and terminates immediately upon the occurrence of
any bankruptcy event.

Ongoing Operations

We need significant additional funding to execute our business plan. We are also seeking strategic partners, including other
automakers, to provide additional capital and other support to enable us to scale the Endurance program and to develop new
vehicle programs in coordination with Foxconn or otherwise. To date, we have not identified a strategic partner for the Endurance.
To the extent we do not identify such a partner, we anticipate that production of the Endurance will cease in the near future. We
also face significant contingent liabilities related to ongoing claims against us and government investigations (see Note 7 –
Commitments and Contingencies for additional information). The ability for us to raise capital in the current market environment is
extremely limited. As a result of these uncertainties, there is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going
concern. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to continue operating as
planned, identify other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent liabilities, we may
need to further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. If
this were to occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and
trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by holders of our securities in
bankruptcy proceedings, if any. See “Liquidity and Going Concern” below.
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Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements are presented in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial statements and the instructions to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included
in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to these rules and
regulations. Accordingly, these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with
our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our Form 10-K.

In the opinion of management, these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements reflect all adjustments
necessary for a fair presentation of our interim financial results. All such adjustments are of a normal and recurring nature. The
results of operations for any interim period are not indicative of results for the full fiscal year. The accompanying unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements include our accounts and those of our controlled subsidiaries. Intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual
amounts realized or paid could differ from those estimates.

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going
concern. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation one year after the date
these consolidated financial statements are issued and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and
commitments in the normal course of business. As more fully discussed below, there is substantial doubt regarding the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least one year from the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and
classification of assets, liabilities, and reported expenses that may be necessary if the Company were unable to continue as a
going concern.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic
205-40, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, management must evaluate
whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern for one year from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued. This evaluation does
not take into consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented or are not
within control of the Company as of the date the consolidated financial statements are issued. When substantial doubt exists
under this methodology, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans, however, is only
considered if both (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date that the
consolidated financial statements are issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, will mitigate the relevant
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

The Company had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of approximately $176.7 million and an accumulated
deficit of $998.9 million at March 31, 2023 and a net loss of $171.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Since inception, we have been developing our flagship vehicle, the Endurance, an electric full-size pickup truck. In the third
quarter of 2022, the Company started commercial production of the Endurance with the first two vehicles completing assembly in
September. The Company subsequently completed homologation and testing and received required certifications that enabled us
to begin sales in the fourth quarter of 2022.
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Engineering readiness, quality and part availability governed the initial timing and speed of the Endurance launch. The rate of
Endurance production remained very low during the fourth quarter of 2022 as we addressed launch-related issues that are often
discovered as an entirely new vehicle begins operating in new and different environments by customers. Those challenges
continued into the first quarter of 2023 as performance and quality issues with certain suppliers’ components led us to temporarily
pause production and customer deliveries until mid-April 2023. Some of these issues were discovered by us or our suppliers,
though some were experienced by our initial customers. In this regard, we filed paperwork with NHTSA to voluntarily recall the
Endurance to address these supplier quality issues. Production will remain at a very low rate as we continue to address any
remaining, and to the extent we discover new, Endurance performance and component quality issues, manage ongoing supply
chain constraints with key components, including hub motor components, and conserve funding given the high BOM cost.

If we experience one or more of these or other factors in the future, it could lead to additional pauses in vehicle builds or delivery
of completed vehicles or future recalls. We continue to evaluate the merits of producing and selling vehicles to customers in order
to seed the commercial fleet market, demonstrate the capabilities of the Endurance, and support our OEM partnership pursuits.
Due to the production delays from early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a strategic partner for the Endurance,
and extremely limited ability to raise capital in the current market environment, we anticipate production of the Endurance will
cease in the near future.

The performance and component quality and other supplier issues we have experienced with the Endurance have caused us to
incur significant research and development expenses after the launch. Although there has been some improvement in the first
quarter of 2023, the Company continues to manage challenges with its supply chain, including part pedigree and availability.

We also have meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing litigation and regulatory proceedings for which
insurance coverage has been denied for certain claims and may be unavailable for those and other claims. While we have
engaged and continue to engage in discussions with the parties in these proceedings, we have not been able to reach a
resolution of these matters. See Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies for additional information and Part II - Item 1A. Risk
Factors.

In an effort to alleviate these conditions, our management continues to seek and evaluate opportunities to raise additional funds
through the issuance of equity or debt securities, asset sales, through arrangements with strategic partners or through financing
from government or financial institutions and seek strategic partners to scale the Endurance program. We have engaged a
financial advisor to advise the Company on additional financing alternatives.

As discussed under Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share, on November 7, 2022, the Company entered into an Open
Market Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC, as agent (“Jefferies”), pursuant to which the Company may
offer and sell up to approximately 50.2 million shares of its Class A common stock from time to time through Jefferies (the “ATM
Offering”). There were no transactions under the ATM Offering for the period ended March 31, 2023. In the future, additional
sales will depend on a variety of factors, including the sales price of the Class A common stock being at least $1.00, higher than
our current stock price, and our ability to maintain compliance with exchange listing requirements, which as of April 19, 2023, we
were not. (See Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice) Even if the Company had the ability to issue shares of Class A
common stock under the Sales Agreement, no assurances can be given that it would sell any shares of Class A common stock
under the Sales Agreement, or, if it does, as to the price or amount of the shares that it sells or the dates when such sales will
take place. Even if additional funds are raised under the ATM Offering, the Company will require additional financing to execute
its business plan.

The completion of the Subsequent Common Closing and the Subsequent Preferred Funding are necessary to provide critical
liquidity for the Company’s operations, but the Company’s dispute with Foxconn means there is substantial uncertainty that such
funding can be obtained. The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to
date, the parties are at an impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing
on May 8, 2023 and we do not
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expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No assurances
can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the Subsequent
Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common Closing is delayed
or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations. See Note 9 –
Subsequent Events – Foxconn Notices.

As a result of having insufficient capital to execute our business plan, we have made and are continuing to make trade-offs with
respect to how we allocate our capital, including substantially limiting investments in tooling, other aspects of the Endurance and
our operations. The trade-offs we are making, including related to hard tooling, have and are likely to continue to result in higher
costs for the Company in the future and are likely to slow or impair future design enhancements or options we may otherwise
seek to make available to Endurance customers.

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to effectively resolve our dispute with Foxconn
and implement and realize the benefits of the Foxconn Transactions, raise substantial additional capital, and develop additional
vehicles. The Company’s current level of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are not sufficient to execute our
business plan. For the foreseeable future, we will incur significant operating expenses, capital expenditures and working capital
funding that will deplete our cash on hand. Additionally, we face significant contingent liabilities arising from claims against us and
government investigations. These conditions raise substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least one year from the date of issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Our ability to obtain additional financing is extremely limited under current market conditions, in particular for our industry, and
also influenced by other factors including the significant amount of capital required, the Foxconn dispute, the fact that the BOM
cost of the Endurance is currently, and expected to continue to be, substantially higher than our selling price, uncertainty
surrounding the performance of any vehicle produced by us, meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing
litigation and the SEC investigation, the Nasdaq Notice, the market price of our stock and potential dilution from the issuance of
any additional securities. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to
continue operating as planned, identify other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent
liabilities, we may need to further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the
Bankruptcy Code. If this were to occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and stockholders,
is uncertain and trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by holders of our
securities in bankruptcy proceedings, if any.

Notice of Non-Compliance with Nasdaq Listing Requirements

On April 19, 2023, the Company was notified by Nasdaq that, because the closing bid price for the Company’s Class A common
stock had fallen below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days (March 7, 2023 through April 18, 2023), the Company
was no longer in compliance with the Bid Price Requirement.

Pursuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided with a compliance cure period of 180
calendar days, or until October 16, 2023, to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement.

The Company is currently evaluating various courses of action to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement, including
implementing a reverse stock split if such action is authorized by the Company’s stockholders at its annual meeting of
stockholders to be held on May 22, 2023.

See Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice for additional information.
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NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP is based on the selection and
application of accounting policies that require us to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
in the consolidated financial statements, and related disclosures in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are periodically reviewed and the effects of changes are
reflected in the condensed consolidated Financial Statements in the period they are determined to be necessary.

Asset impairment loss calculations require us to apply judgment in estimating asset group fair values and future cash flows,
including periods of operation, projections of product pricing, production levels, product costs, market supply and demand,
inflation, projected capital spending and, specifically for fixed assets acquired, assigned useful lives, functional obsolescence,
asset condition and discount rates. When performing impairment tests, we estimate the fair values of the assets using
management’s best assumptions, which we believe would be consistent with the assumptions that a hypothetical marketplace
participant would use. Estimates and assumptions used in these tests are evaluated and updated as appropriate. The
assessment of whether an asset group should be classified as held and used or held for sale requires us to apply judgment in
estimating the probable timing of the sale, and in testing for impairment loss, judgment is required in estimating the net proceeds
from the sale. Actual asset impairment losses could vary considerably from estimated impairment losses if actual results are not
consistent with the assumptions and judgments used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash includes cash equivalents which are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash. The Company considers
all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. In general, investments with original
maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term investments.
Our short-term investments consist primarily of liquid investment grade commercial paper, which are diversified among individual
issuers, including non-U.S. governments, non-U.S. governmental agencies, supranational institutions, banks and corporations.
The short-term investments are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The settlement risk related to these investments is
insignificant given that the short-term investments held are primarily highly liquid investment-grade fixed-income securities.

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit and securities accounts that exceed federally insured limits. We have not
experienced significant losses in such accounts and management believes it is not exposed to material credit risk.

Inventory and Inventory Valuation

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value (“NRV”) is the estimated future selling price of
the inventory in the ordinary course of business less cost to sell, and considers general market and economic conditions. A
charge was also taken to adjust for inventory in excess of anticipated Endurance production. Due to the production delays from
early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a strategic partner for the Endurance, and extremely limited ability to raise
capital in the current market environment, we anticipate production of the Endurance will cease in the near future. Therefore, the
quantity we expect to produce and sell, along with inventory for future service and warranty parts is lower than previously
anticipated.

The charges to reflect the NRV totaled $19.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and are recorded within Cost of
Sales in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation will be computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting
gain or loss is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repair expenditures are expensed as incurred, while major improvements
that increase functionality of the asset are capitalized and depreciated ratably to expense over the identified useful life.

Valuation of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Asset impairment
calculations require us to apply judgment in estimating asset group fair values and future cash flows, including periods of
operation, projections of product pricing, production levels, product costs, market supply and demand, inflation, projected capital
spending and, specifically for fixed assets acquired, assigned useful lives, functional obsolescence, asset condition and discount
rates. When performing impairment tests, we estimate the fair values of the assets using management’s best assumptions, which
we believe would be consistent with the assumptions that a hypothetical marketplace participant would use. Estimates and
assumptions used in these tests are evaluated and updated as appropriate. The assessment of whether an asset group should
be classified as held and used or held for sale requires us to apply judgment in estimating the probable timing of the sale, and in
testing for impairment loss, judgment is required in estimating the net proceeds from the sale. Actual asset impairment losses
could vary considerably from estimated impairment losses if actual results are not consistent with the assumptions and judgments
used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect
the determination of fair value and any impairment charge.

For assets to be held and used, including identifiable intangible assets and long-lived assets subject to amortization, we initiate
our review whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of a long-lived asset subject to amortization is measured by comparison of its carrying amount to the
expected future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. Any impairment to be recognized is measured by
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Significant management judgment is required in this
process. We recognized impairment charges of $109.8 million and $95.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and
for the year ended December 31, 2022. No fixed asset impairment charges were recognized for the three months ended
March 31, 2022. See Note 4 – Property, Plant and Equipment for details regarding our impairment.

In November 2019, the Company entered into a transaction with Workhorse Group Inc. (“Workhorse Group”), for the purpose of
obtaining certain intellectual property. In connection with granting this license, Workhorse Group received 10% of the outstanding
Legacy Lordstown common stock, valued at $11.1 million, and was entitled to royalties of 1% of the gross sales price of the first
200,000 vehicle sales.

In November 2020, we prepaid the royalty payment to Workhorse Group in the amount of $4.75 million, representing an advance
on the royalties discussed above, but only to the extent that the aggregate amount of such royalty fees exceeded the amount paid
upfront.
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, we continued to refine the design of the Endurance and considered technologies we
would use in future vehicles. Given the technology used in the Endurance and new management’s strategic direction of the
Company, inclusive of the transactions contemplated with Foxconn as detailed in Note 1 – Description of Organization and
Business Operations, we deemed it appropriate to change the useful life of the intellectual property license we acquired to zero
months. As such, we recorded accelerated amortization of $11.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Given that Workhorse Group technology is not being used in the Endurance and our strategic direction, inclusive of the
transactions contemplated with Foxconn, we deemed it appropriate to terminate the royalty agreement. As such, we recorded a
charge of $4.75 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 to write-off the prepaid royalty.

In August 2021, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase a perpetual software license related to manufacturing
execution system for a cost of $1.0 million. As of December 31, 2022, with the Company’s current strategic direction, it was
determined that this software will not be utilized for the manufacturing of Endurance and therefore full impairment of $1.0 million
was recorded for the period ended December 31, 2022.

Research and development costs

The Company expenses research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development costs consist
primarily of personnel costs for engineering, testing and manufacturing costs, along with expenditures for prototype
manufacturing, testing, software subscriptions for computer-aided engineering and product lifecycle management validation,
certification, contract and other professional services and costs associated with operating the Lordstown facility, prior to its sale.

Stock-based compensation

The Company’s stock incentive plan offers stock options, Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) and Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”).
The Company recognizes share based compensation expense over a defined vesting period for the entire award. We estimate
forfeitures based on actual historical forfeitures. The fair value for stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option
pricing models, which incorporates assumptions regarding the expected volatility, expected option life and risk-free interest rate.
The grant date fair value of RSUs are calculated using the closing market price of the Company’s Class A common stock.

Warrants

The Company accounts for the Private Warrants (as defined below) and the Foxconn Warrants as described in Note 3 – Fair
Value Measurements in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC Topic 815-40-15-7D and 7F under which these Warrants
do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, the Company classifies these
warrants as liabilities at their fair value at each reporting period or at the time of settlement. Any change in fair value is recognized
in the statement of operations.

The Company accounts for the BGL Warrants (as defined below) as equity as these warrants qualify as share-based
compensation under ASC Topic 718.

Income taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC Topic 740”). Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on the difference between the consolidated financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are
provided, if based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
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The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740. When uncertain tax
positions exist, the Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positions to the extent that the benefit would more likely than not be
realized assuming examination by the taxing authority. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more likely than not be
realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and circumstances.
The Company recognizes any interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

There are no recently issued, but not yet adopted, accounting pronouncements which are expected to have a material impact on
the Company’s Condensed Financial Statements and related disclosures.

NOTE 3 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company follows the accounting guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements (“ASC Topic 820”) for its fair value
measurements of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined as an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. The three-tiered fair value hierarchy,
which prioritizes when inputs should be used in measuring fair value, is comprised of: (Level I) observable inputs such as quoted
prices in active markets; (Level II) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly
and (Level III) unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data. The fair value hierarchy requires the use of
observable market data when available in determining fair value.

The Company has short-term investments which are primarily commercial paper that are classified as Level II. The valuation
inputs for the short-term investments are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant
inputs are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets.

The Company has issued the following warrants: (i) warrants (the “Public Warrants”) to purchase shares of Class A common
stock with an exercise price of $11.50 per share, (ii) warrants (the “Private Warrants”) to purchase Class A common stock with an
exercise price of $11.50 per share, (iii) warrants (the “BGL Warrants”) to purchase Class A common stock with an exercise price
of $10.00 per share, and (iv) the Foxconn Warrants to purchase shares of Class A common stock with an exercise price of
$10.50. The BGL Warrants were issued as part of the Business Combination in October 2020, which are set to expire in October
2023, are classified as equity as they qualify as share-based compensation under ASC Topic 718, Compensation – Stock
Compensation (“ASC Topic 718”).

The Public Warrants and the Private Warrants were recorded in the Company’s Condensed Financial Statements as a result of
the Business Combination between DiamondPeak and Lordstown EV Corporation (formerly known as Lordstown Motors Corp.)
and the reverse recapitalization that occurred on October 23, 2020 and did not impact any reporting periods prior to the Business
Combination. The Company determined that the fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Warrants was $100.9 million as of
the date of the Business Combination.

As of March 31, 2023, we had 1.7 million Foxconn Warrants, 2.3 million Private Warrants and 1.6 million BGL Warrants
outstanding.

As of March 31, 2022, we had 2.3 million Private Warrants, 1.6 million BGL Warrants outstanding and no Public Warrants
outstanding.
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The fair value of the Foxconn Warrants was $0.3 million at issuance. The Private Warrants and the Foxconn Warrants are
classified as a liability with any changes in the fair value recognized immediately in our condensed consolidated statements of
operations.

The following table summarizes the net loss (gain) on changes in fair value (in thousands) related to the Private Warrants and the
Foxconn Warrants:

Three months ended Three months ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Private Warrants (231) (1,520)
Foxconn Warrants (136) —
Net gain (loss) on changes in fair value $ (367) $ (1,520)

Observed prices for the Public Warrants are used as Level 1 inputs as they were actively traded until being redeemed in January
2021. The Private Warrants and the Foxconn Warrants are measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs. These instruments are
not actively traded and are valued using a Monte Carlo option pricing model and Black-Scholes option pricing model, respectively,
that use observable and unobservable market data as inputs.

A Monte Carlo model was used to simulate a multitude of price paths to measure fair value of the Private Warrants. The Monte
Carlo model simulates risk-neutral stock price paths utilizing two parameters – a drift term (based on the risk-free rate and
assumed volatility) and an error term (determined using a random number and assumed volatility). This analysis simulates
possible paths for the stock price over the term of the Private Warrants. For each simulated price path, we evaluate the conditions
under which the Company could redeem each Private Warrant for a fraction of whole shares of the underlying as detailed within
the applicable warrant agreement. If the conditions are met, we assume redemptions would occur, although the Private Warrant
holders would have the option to immediately exercise if it were more advantageous to do so. For each simulated price path, if a
redemption does not occur the holders are assumed to exercise the Private Warrants if the stock price exceeds the exercise price
at the end of the term. Proceeds from either the redemption or the exercise of the Private Warrants are reduced to a present
value amount at each measurement date using the risk-free rate for each simulated price path. Present value indications from
iterated priced paths were averaged to derive an indication of value for the Private Warrants.

The Foxconn Warrants do not have any redemption features and their fair value was measured using the Black-Scholes closed-
form option pricing model. Inputs to the model include remaining term, prevailing stock price, strike price, risk-free rate, and
volatility.

The stock price volatility rates utilized were 90% and 80%, respectively, for the valuations as of March 31, 2023 and March 31,
2022. This assumption considers observed historical stock price volatility of other companies operating in the same or similar
industry as the Company over a period similar to the remaining term of the Private Warrants and the Foxconn Warrants, as well
as the volatility implied by the traded options of the Company. The risk-free rates utilized were 3.819% and 2.454% for the
valuations as of March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively, for the Private Warrants. The risk-free rate utilized for the
valuation of the Foxconn Warrants as of three months ended March 31, 2023 was 3.896%.
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The following tables summarize the valuation of our financial instruments (in thousands):

     Total     

Quoted prices in

active markets


(Level 1)     

Prices with

observable inputs


(Level 2)     

Prices with
unobservable inputs


(Level 3)
March 31, 2023
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,086 $ 108,086 $ — $ —
Short-term investments 68,589 — 68,589 —
Private Warrants 23 — — 23
Foxconn Warrants 34 — — 34

     Total     

Quoted prices in

active markets


(Level 1)     

Prices with

observable inputs


(Level 2)     

Prices with
unobservable inputs


(Level 3)
December 31, 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 121,358 $ 121,358 $ — $ —
Short-term investments 100,297 — 100,297 —
Private Warrants 254 — — 254
Foxconn Warrants 170 170

The following table summarizes the changes in our Level 3 financial instruments (in thousands):

    
Balance at

December 31, 2022 Additions Settlements

Loss on fair

value adjustments


included in earnings     
Balance at

March 31, 2023

Private Warrants $ 254 — — (231) $ 23
Foxconn Warrants 170 — (136) 34

NOTE 4 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, net of impairment charges, consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Property, Plant & Equipment
Land $ — $ —
Buildings — —
Machinery and equipment 20,384 41,143
Tooling 59,602 119,735
Construction in progress 14,287 41,378

$ 94,273 $ 202,256
Less: Accumulated depreciation (16,150) (8,476)

Total $ 78,123 $ 193,780

We outsource all of the manufacturing of the Endurance and operation of certain remaining assets to Foxconn under the Contract
Manufacturing Agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company sold its manufacturing facility, certain equipment, and other assets
located in Lordstown, Ohio and recorded a gain of $100.9 million. We continue to own our hub motor assembly line, as well as
our battery module and pack line assets, certain tooling and other excluded assets. Construction in progress as of
March 31, 2023 primarily includes certain production equipment and tooling and uninstalled equipment acquired for higher
capacity production and general assets the Company's facility in Lordstown, Ohio and tooling held at various supplier locations.
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We continue to evaluate the merits of producing and selling vehicles to customers in order to seed the commercial fleet market,
demonstrate the capabilities of the Endurance, and support our OEM partnership pursuits. Due to the production delays from
early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a strategic partner for the Endurance, and extremely limited ability to raise
capital in the current market environment, we anticipate production of the Endurance will cease in the near future. As of
March 31, 2023, the Company determined that there was substantial doubt in our ability to continue as a going concern. As
substantially all of our fixed assets support the production of the Endurance, the Company periodically reviews its fixed asset
useful lives for depreciation purposes and for potential impairment.

In light of the fact that we anticipate production of the Endurance will cease in the near future, the Company has revised its
estimate of the useful life of manufacturing assets, shortening the depreciation period to July 31, 2023. Accordingly, as of April 1,
2023 depreciation on these assets was revised to account for this change in estimate that will result in substantially higher
depreciation beginning in the second quarter of 2023.

As of March 31, 2023, property, plant, and equipment was reviewed for potential impairment for recoverability by comparing the
carrying amount of our asset group to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group.
The Company determined that all our property, plant, and equipment represent one asset group which is the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are available. As the carrying amount of our asset group exceeded its estimated undiscounted future
cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2023, we recognized an impairment charge of $109.8 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 based on the difference between the carrying value of the fixed assets and their fair value as of
March 31, 2023. No fixed asset impairment charges were recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The fair value
was derived from the Company's enterprise value at the time of impairment as we believe it represents the most appropriate fair
value of the asset group in accordance with accounting guidance. In particular, the Company’s ability to raise capital is currently
severely limited due to the current market environment and Company-specific factors. Therefore, notwithstanding management’s
plans and efforts to date, there continues to be substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to continue operating as planned,
identify other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent liabilities, we may need to
further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. If this
were to occur, significant additional impairments may result. Furthermore, the value available to our various stakeholders,
including our creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the
actual recovery, if any, by holders of our securities in bankruptcy proceedings, if any.

NOTE 5 – MEZZANINE EQUITY

On November 7, 2022, the Company issued 0.3 million shares of Preferred Stock for $100 per share to Foxconn, resulting in
gross proceeds of $30 million.

In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program budget and the EV Program milestones and satisfaction of those
EV Program milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn is to purchase in two tranches, a
total of 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share for aggregate proceeds of $70
million.

The first tranche will be in an amount equal to 0.3 million shares for an aggregate purchase price of $30 million; the second
tranche will be in an amount equal to 0.4 million shares for an aggregate purchase price of $40 million. The parties agreed to use
commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023.

The completion of the Subsequent Preferred Funding would provide critical liquidity for the Company’s operations. On April 21,
2023, the Company received the Foxconn Notice asserting the Company had breached the Investment Agreement and
purporting to terminate the Investment Agreement if the breach is not cured within 30 days. The Company has notified Foxconn in
writing that (1) it believes the breach allegations in the Foxconn Notice are without merit, (2) the Investment Agreement, by its
terms, does not
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permit Foxconn to terminate it following the Initial Closing, and (3) in any event, Foxconn cannot exercise termination rights
because Foxconn has breached the Investment Agreement by failing to use necessary efforts to agree upon the EV Program
budget and EV Program milestones to facilitate the Subsequent Preferred Funding. On May 1, 2023, after having publicly
disclosed the Foxconn Notice, the Company received the Second Foxconn Notice (1) indicating that Foxconn agrees that it is
unable to terminate the Investment Agreement after the Initial Closing, (2) asserting that the Nasdaq Notice constitutes a breach
of a representation that is a condition to the Subsequent Common Closing and, therefore, Foxconn is not obligated to
consummate the Subsequent Common Closing until such breach is cured, and (3) asserting that the Company’s claims regarding
Foxconn’s breach of the Investment Agreement with respect to the EV Program and Subsequent Preferred Funding are without
merit.

The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to
complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and
remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones, its Subsequent Preferred Funding obligations and its knowing and intentional efforts to invalidly terminate
the Investment Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material detriment of the Company.

The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an
impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we
do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If such funding does not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical
funding necessary for its operations. The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not
reached.

The Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights, rights on the distribution of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of the affairs of the Company and redemption rights, ranks: (a) on a parity basis with each other class or series of any equity
interests (“Capital Stock”) of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which expressly provide that such class or
series ranks on a parity basis with the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Parity Stock”); (b) junior to each
other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which expressly provide that such
class or series ranks senior to the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Senior Stock”); and (c) senior to the
Class A common stock and each other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of
which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks on a parity basis with, or senior to, the Preferred Stock as to such
matters (such Capital Stock, “Junior Stock”). While Foxconn’s beneficial ownership of our Class A common stock meets the 25%
Ownership Requirement (defined below), Parity Stock and Senior Stock can only be issued with Foxconn’s consent.

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, the holders of Preferred Stock are entitled,
out of assets legally available therefor, before any distribution or payment to the holders of any Junior Stock, and subject to the
rights of the holders of any Senior Stock or Parity Stock and the rights of the Company’s existing and future creditors, to receive
in full a liquidating distribution in cash and in the amount per share of Preferred Stock equal to the greater of (1) the sum of $100
per share plus the accrued unpaid dividends with respect to such share, and (2) the amount the holder would have received had
it converted such share into Class A common stock immediately prior to the date of such event.

All holders of shares of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of Class A common stock on all matters submitted to
a vote of stockholders of the Company as a single class with each share of Preferred Stock entitled to a number of votes equal to
the number of shares of Class A common stock into which such share could be converted; provided, that no holder of shares of
Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote to the extent that such holder would have the right to a number of votes in respect of such
holder’s shares of Class A common stock, Preferred Stock or other capital stock that would exceed the limitations set forth in
clauses (i) and (ii) of the definition of Ownership Limitations.
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Pursuant to the Certificate of Designation, commencing on the later of (1) May 7, 2023, and (2) the earlier of (x) the date of the
Subsequent Common Closing and (y) November 7, 2023 (the “Conversion Right Date”), and subject to the Ownership
Limitations, the Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder into a number of shares of Class A common stock
obtained by dividing the sum of the liquidation preference (i.e., $100 per share) and all accrued but unpaid dividends with respect
to such share as of the applicable conversion date by the conversion price as of the applicable conversion date. The conversion
price currently is $1.936 per share and it is subject to customary adjustments. At any time following the third anniversary of the
date of issuance, the Company can cause the Preferred Stock to be converted if the volume-weighted average price of the Class
A common stock exceeds 200% of the Conversion Price for a period of at least twenty trading days in any period of thirty
consecutive trading days. Foxconn’s ability to convert is limited by clauses (i) and (ii) of the definition of the Ownership
Limitations.

Upon a change of control, Foxconn can cause the Company to purchase any or all of its Preferred Stock at a purchase price
equal to the greater of its liquidation preference (including any unpaid accrued dividends) and the amount of cash and other
property that it would have received had it converted its Preferred Stock prior to the change of control transaction (the “Change of
Control Put”).

The terms of the Company’s Preferred Stock do not specify an unconditional obligation of the Company to redeem the Preferred
Stock on a specific or determinable date, or upon an event certain to occur. The Company notes the Change of Control Put;
however, this is contingent on the occurrence of the change of control event, which is not a known or determinable event at time
of issuance. Therefore, the Preferred Stock is not considered to be mandatorily redeemable. The conversion of the Preferred
Stock is based on fixed conversion price rather than a fixed conversion amount. The value of the Preferred Stock obligation would
not vary based on something other than the fair value of the Company’s equity shares or change inversely in relation to the fair
value of the Company’s equity shares. Based on these factors, Preferred Stock does not require classification as a liability in
accordance with the provisions in ASC 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity”.

The Preferred Stock is not redeemable at a fixed or determinable date or at the option of the holder. However, the Preferred Stock
does include the Change of Control Put, which could allow the holder to redeem the Preferred Stock upon the occurrence of an
event. As the Company cannot assert control over any potential event which would qualify as a change of control, the event is not
considered to be solely within the control of the issuer, and would require classification in temporary equity (as per ASC 480-10-
S99-3A(4)). Accordingly, the Preferred Stock is classified as temporary equity and is separated from permanent equity on the
Company’s Balance Sheet.

The Company believes that the transaction price associated with the sale of the Preferred Stock to Foxconn is representative of
fair value and will be the basis for initial measurement.

The Preferred Stock issued by the Company accrues dividends at the rate of 8% per annum whether or not declared
and/or paid by the Company (cumulative dividends). In addition, the dividends will compound on a quarterly basis (upon
each Preferred Dividend Payment Date (as defined in the Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock filed by the Company with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Certificate
of Designations”))) to the extent they are not paid by the Company. The Company records the dividends (effective PIK
dividends) as they are earned, based on the fair value of the Preferred Stock at the date they are earned. In addition, the
holders of the Preferred Stock participate with any dividends payable in respect of any Junior Stock or Parity Stock. For
the year ended December 31, 2022, and quarter ended March 31, 2023 the Company accrued $0.3 million and $0.6
million dividends, respectively, which represents the estimated fair value to Preferred Stock with a corresponding
adjustment to additional-paid-in-capital common stock in the absence of retained earnings.



26

While the Company concluded above that accretion to redemption value of the Preferred Stock was not required as the
Preferred Stock is not currently redeemable or probable of becoming redeemable, it is noted that the recognition of the
dividends will not necessarily reflect the redemption value at any time (given the ‘greater of’ language included as part of
the determination of redemption value per above). As of March 31, 2023, the Company does not consider change of
control to be probable.

NOTE 6 — CAPITAL STOCK AND LOSS PER SHARE

On August 17, 2022, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders whereby our stockholders voted to amend the
Company’s second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended (the “Charter”) to increase our authorized
shares of capital stock from 312 million to 462 million, consisting of (i) 450 million shares of Class A common stock and (ii) 12
million shares of preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.0001. We had 239.0 million and 238.9 million shares of Class A
common stock issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and 0.3 million shares of
Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of each of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding for basic and diluted loss per share of Class A common stock is as follows
(in thousands):

Three months ended Three months ended
    March 31, 2023     March 31, 2022

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 239,754 196,503
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 239,754 196,503

The following outstanding potentially dilutive Class A common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of
diluted net loss per share attributable to Class A common stock stockholders for the periods presented due to their anti-dilutive
effect (in thousands):

Three months ended     Three months ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Foxconn Preferred Stock 15,943 —
Share awards 102 3,862
Foxconn Warrants 1,700 —
BGL Warrants 1,649 1,649
Private Warrants 2,314 2,314
    Total 21,708 7,825

Investment Transactions

On November 7, 2022, the Company entered into the Investment Agreement under which Foxconn agreed to make additional
equity investments (collectively, the “Investment Transactions”) in the Company through the purchase of $70 million of Class A
common stock and up to $100 million in Preferred Stock (together with the Class A common stock, the “Securities”), subject to
certain conditions, including, without limitation, regulatory approvals and satisfaction of certain EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones established by the parties.

The Company will use any proceeds from the sale of the Class A common stock for general corporate purposes as determined
by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the proceeds from the sale of the Preferred Stock is limited to funding the
EV Program or any substitute or replacement electric vehicle program as agreed to by Foxconn and the Company.

Investment Agreement

On November 22, 2022, the Company completed the Initial Closing under the Investment Agreement, at which Foxconn
purchased (a) approximately 12.9 million shares of Class A common stock at a purchase
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price of $1.76 per share, and (b) 0.3 million shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share, for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $52.7 million.

The Investment Agreement provides for the Subsequent Common Closing, at which time Foxconn is required to purchase
approximately 26.9 million shares of Class A common stock for approximately $47.3 million. The Subsequent Common Closing is
to occur within 10 business days following the parties’ receipt of CFIUS Clearance and subject to satisfaction of the other 
conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement (which the Company believes have been or will be satisfied). CFIUS Clearance 
was received on April 25, 2023, which means the Subsequent Common Closing is to occur on or before May 8, 2023. The 
Company is ready, willing and able to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on a timely basis.  

In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program budget and the EV Program milestones and satisfaction such
milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn is to purchase in the Subsequent Preferred
Funding two tranches equal to 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share for
aggregate proceeds of $70 million. The parties agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV Program
budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023.

On April 21, 2023, the Company received the Foxconn Notice (1) asserting that the Company was in breach of the Investment
Agreement due to its previously disclosed receipt of the Nasdaq Notice indicating that the Company was no longer in compliance
with the Bid Price Requirement (see – Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice) and (2) purporting to terminate the
Investment Agreement if the breach is not cured within 30 days. In response, the Company notified Foxconn in writing on April
25, 2023 that (1) it believes the breach allegations in the Foxconn Notice are without merit, (2) the Investment Agreement, by its
terms, does not permit Foxconn to terminate it following the Initial Closing, and (3) in any event, Foxconn cannot exercise
termination rights because Foxconn has breached the Investment Agreement by failing to use necessary efforts to agree upon
the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones to facilitate Subsequent Preferred Funding.

On May 1, 2023, after having publicly disclosed the Foxconn Notice, the Company received the Second Foxconn Notice (1)
indicating that Foxconn agrees that it is unable to terminate the Investment Agreement after the Initial Closing, (2) asserting that
the Nasdaq Notice constitutes a breach of a representation that is a condition to the Subsequent Common Closing and, therefore,
Foxconn is not obligated to consummate the Subsequent Common Closing until such breach is cured, and (3) asserting that the
Company’s claims regarding Foxconn’s breach of the Investment Agreement with respect to the EV Program and Subsequent
Preferred Funding are without merit.

The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to
complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and
remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones, its funding obligations and its knowing and intentional efforts to invalidly terminate the Investment
Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material detriment of the Company.

The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an
impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we
do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common
Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations.
The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not reached.

The Investment Agreement also provides that:
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●Board Representation: Foxconn will have the right to appoint two designees to the Board subject to the resolution of our dispute
with Foxconn and the consummation of the Subsequent Common Closing. Foxconn will relinquish one Board seat if it does not
continue to beneficially own shares of Class A common stock, Preferred Stock and shares of Class A common stock issued
upon conversion of shares of Preferred Stock that represent (on an as-converted basis) at least 50% of the number of shares of
Class A common stock (on an as-converted basis) acquired by Foxconn in connection with the Investment Transactions and will
relinquish its other Board seat if it does not continue to beneficially own at least 25% of the number of shares of Class A
common stock (on an as-converted basis) acquired by Foxconn in connection with the Investment Transactions (the “25%
Ownership Requirement”).

● Termination of Foxconn Joint Venture: The Company and Foxconn would cause (i) the Foxconn Joint Venture Agreement to be
amended to terminate all obligations of Lordstown EV Corporation and Foxconn EV Technology, Inc. thereunder, (ii) the Note,
dated June 24, 2022, issued by Lordstown EV Corporation and guaranteed by the Company and Lordstown EV Sales (the
“Note”) to be terminated, and (iii) all liens on assets of Lordstown EV Corporation and the Company to be released. All
remaining funds held by the Foxconn Joint Venture were distributed to Foxconn EV Technology, Inc. as a distribution for
amounts contributed by it and as a repayment in full of any loans advanced by it to Lordstown EV Corporation under the Note.

●Standstill: Until the date that is the later of December 31, 2024 and 90 days after the first day on which no Foxconn-appointed
director serves on the Board and Foxconn no longer has a right to appoint any directors, without the approval of the Board,
Foxconn will not (A) acquire any equity securities of the Company if after the acquisition Foxconn and its affiliates would own (i)
prior to the Subsequent Common Closing, 9.99% of the capital stock of the Company that is entitled to vote generally in any
election of directors of the Company (“Voting Power”), (ii) prior to the time the Company obtains the approval of stockholders
contemplated by Rule 5635 of the Nasdaq listing rules as in effect on November 7, 2022 with respect to certain equity
issuances (the “Requisite Stockholder Approval”), 19.99% of the Voting Power, and (iii) at all times following the Subsequent
Common Closing and the Requisite Stockholder Approval, 24% of the Voting Power (collectively, the “Ownership Limitations”),
or (B) make any public announcement with respect to, or offer, seek, propose or indicate an interest in, any merger,
consolidation, business combination, tender or exchange offer, recapitalization, reorganization or purchase of more than 50% of
the assets, properties or securities of the Company, or enter into discussions, negotiations, arrangements, understandings, or
agreements regarding the foregoing.

●Exclusivity: Prior to the Subsequent Common Closing, (i) without Foxconn’s consent, the Company will not (A) encourage,
solicit, initiate or facilitate any Acquisition Proposal (as defined below), (B) enter into any agreement with respect to any
Acquisition Proposal or that would cause it not to consummate any of the Investment Transactions or (C) participate in
discussions or negotiations with, or furnish any information to, any person in connection with any Acquisition Proposal, and (ii)
the Company will inform Foxconn of any Acquisition Proposal that it receives. An “Acquisition Proposal” means any proposal for
any (i) sale or other disposition by merger, joint venture or otherwise of assets of the Company representing 30% or more of the
consolidated assets of the Company, (ii) issuance of securities representing 15% or more of any equity securities of the
Company, (iii) tender offer, exchange offer or other transaction that would result in any person beneficially owning 15% or more
of any equity securities of the Company, (iv) merger, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company
representing 30% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company, or (v) combination of the foregoing. The Company has
also agreed that, while the Preferred Stock is outstanding, it will not put in place a poison pill arrangement that applies to
Foxconn to the extent of its ownership of shares of Preferred Stock or Class A common stock that it acquired from the
Company as of the date such arrangement is adopted by the Company.

●Voting Agreement and Consent Rights: The terms of the Investment Agreement and Certificate of Designations provide that,
until the later of (i) December 31, 2024 and (ii) 90 days after the first day on which no Foxconn-appointed director serves on the
Board and Foxconn no longer has a right to appoint any
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directors Foxconn has agreed to vote all of its shares of Class A common stock and Preferred Stock (to the extent then entitled
to vote) in favor of each director recommended by the Board and in accordance with any recommendation of the Board on all
other proposals that are the subject of stockholder action (other than any action related to any merger or business combination
or other change of control transaction or sale of assets). So long as the 25% Ownership Requirement is satisfied, without the
consent of the holders of at least a majority of the then-issued and outstanding Preferred Stock (voting as a separate class), the
Company cannot (i) amend any provision of the Charter or the Company’s amended and restated bylaws in a manner that
would adversely affect the Preferred Stock or increase or decrease the number of shares of Preferred Stock, (ii) authorize or
create, or increase the number of shares of any parity or senior securities other than securities on parity with the Preferred
Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference of not more than $30 million, (iii) increase the size of the Board, or (iv) sell,
license or lease or encumber any material portion of the Company’s hub motor technology and production line other than in the
ordinary course of business.

● Participation Rights: Following the Subsequent Common Closing and until Foxconn no longer has the right to appoint a director
to the Board, other than with respect to certain excluded issuances, Foxconn has the right to purchase its pro rata portion of
equity securities proposed to be sold by the Company; provided, that the Company is not required to sell Foxconn securities if
the Company would be required to obtain stockholder approval under any applicable law or regulation.

The Investment Agreement contains closing conditions. The Investment Agreement can be terminated by mutual agreement of
the parties to amend the Investment Agreement to allow such a termination, and cannot otherwise be terminated by either party
following the Initial Closing.

Registration Rights Agreement

On November 22, 2022, the Company and Foxconn entered into the Registration Rights Agreement pursuant to which the
Company agreed to use reasonable efforts to file and cause to be declared effective a registration statement with the SEC
registering the resale of the Class A common stock issued to Foxconn, including any shares of Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of the Preferred Stock under the Investment Agreement, which is to be filed promptly following the earlier to occur of
(i) the Subsequent Common Closing and (ii) May 7, 2023. Foxconn also has customary demand and piggyback registration rights
with respect to the shares of Class A common stock issued or issuable under the Investment Agreement, and indemnification
rights.

Sales Agreement and ATM Offering

On November 7, 2022, the Company entered into the Sales Agreement with Jefferies, as agent, pursuant to which the Company
may offer and sell up to approximately 50.2 million shares of our Class A common stock, from time to time through Jefferies. The
Company has agreed to pay Jefferies commissions for its services of acting as agent of up to 3% of the gross proceeds from the
sale of the shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement. The Company has also agreed to provide Jefferies
with customary indemnification and contribution rights.

Upon delivery of an issuance notice and subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Agreement, Jefferies may sell shares of
Class A common stock at market prices by any method deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4)
promulgated under the Securities Act, including sales made directly on or through The Nasdaq Global Select Market, the existing
trading market for the Class A common stock. During 2022, Jefferies sold approximately 7.8 million shares of Class A common
stock, which resulted in net proceeds of $12.4 million. There were no shares sold in the quarter ending March 31, 2023.

The Company may instruct Jefferies to not sell the shares of Class A common stock if the sales cannot be transacted at or above
the price designated by the Company in any issuance notice. The Company is not obligated to make any sales of the shares of
Class A common stock under the Sales Agreement. In the
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future, any additional sales will depend on a variety of factors, including the sales price of the Class A common stock being at
least $1.00, higher than the current stock price, and our ability to maintain compliance with exchange listing requirements, which
as of April 19, 2023, we were not (see Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice). Even if the Company had the ability to
issue shares of Class A common stock under the Sales Agreement, no assurances can be given that the Company would sell
any shares of Class A common stock under the Agreement, or, if it does, as to the price or amount of the shares of Class A
common stock that it sells or the dates when such sales will take place. Even if additional funds are raised under the ATM
Offering, the Company will require additional financing to execute its business plan.

The Company or Jefferies may suspend or terminate the offering of shares of Class A commons stock upon notice to the other
party, subject to certain conditions. Jefferies will act as sales agent on a commercially reasonable efforts basis consistent with its
normal trading and sales practices and applicable state and federal law, rules and regulations and the rules of Nasdaq.

We entered into an equity purchase agreement (“Equity Purchase Agreement”) with YA II PN, LTD. (“YA”) on July 23, 2021,
pursuant to which YA had committed to purchase up to $400 million of our Class A common stock, at our direction from time to
time, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. The Equity Purchase Agreement was terminated on November 22, 2022.

As consideration for YA’s irrevocable commitment to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A common stock upon the terms of
and subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Equity Purchase Agreement, upon execution of the Equity Purchase
Agreement, the Company issued 0.4 million shares of its Class A common stock to YA (the “Commitment Shares”).

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we issued 17.5 million shares to YA and received $40.4 million cash, net of equity
issuance costs. During the year ended December 31, 2021, inclusive of the 0.4 million Commitment Shares, we issued 9.6 million
shares to YA and received $49.4 million cash, net of equity issuance costs.

NOTE 7 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to extensive pending and threatened legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business and we
have already incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant legal expenses in defending against these claims. The
Company records a liability for loss contingencies in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements when a loss is known or
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company has and may in the future enter into
discussions regarding settlement of these matters, and may enter into settlement agreements if it believes it is in the best interest
of the Company. Settlement by the Company or adverse decisions with respect to the matters disclosed, individually or in the
aggregate, may result in liability material to the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

The Company had accruals of $34.7 million and $35.9 million, for the periods ending March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively, for certain of its outstanding legal proceedings within Accrued and other current liabilities on its Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheet. The accrual is based on current information, legal advice and the potential impact of the outcome of
one or more claims on related matters and may be adjusted in the future based on new developments. This accrual does not
reflect a full range of possible outcomes for these proceedings or the full amount of any damages alleged, which are significantly
higher. Furthermore, the Company may use Class A common stock as a consideration in any settlement. While the Company
believes that additional losses beyond current accruals are likely, and any such additional losses may be significant, it cannot
presently estimate a possible loss contingency or range of reasonably possible loss contingencies beyond current accruals.
Estimating probable losses requires the analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often depend on judgments and potential
actions by third parties.

Lordstown was notified by its primary insurer under our post-merger directors and officers insurance policy that the insurer is
taking the position that no coverage is available for the consolidated securities class action,
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various shareholder derivative actions, the consolidated stockholder class action, various demands for inspection of books and
records, the SEC investigation, and the investigation by the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
described below, and certain indemnification obligations, under an exclusion to the policy called the “retroactive date exclusion.”
The insurer has identified other potential coverage issues as well. Excess coverage attaches only after the underlying insurance
has been exhausted, and generally applies in conformance with the terms of the underlying insurance. Lordstown is analyzing the
insurer’s position, and intends to pursue any available coverage under this policy and other insurance. As a result of the denial of
coverage, no or limited insurance may be available to us to reimburse our expenses or cover any potential losses for these
matters, which could be significant. The insurers in our Side A D&O insurance program, providing coverage for individual
directors and officers in derivative actions and certain other situations, have issued a reservation of rights letter which, while not
denying coverage, has cast doubt on the availability of coverage for at least some individuals and/or claims.

Legal fees and costs of litigation or an adverse judgment or settlement in any one or more of our ongoing litigation matters that
are not insured or that is in excess of insurance coverage could significantly exceed our current accrual and ability to pay. This
would have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations and could severely curtail or cause our
operations to cease entirely.

On October 30, 2020, the Company, together with certain of its current and former executive officers including Mr. Burns, Mr.
LaFleur, Mr. Post and Mr. Schmidt, and certain of our other current and former employees, were named as defendants in a
lawsuit filed by Karma Automotive LLC (“Karma”) in the United States District Court for the Central District of California (“District
Court”). On November 6, 2020, the District Court denied Karma’s request for a temporary restraining order. On April 16, 2021,
Karma filed an Amended Complaint that added additional defendants (two Company employees and two Company contractors
that were previously employed by Karma) and a number of additional claims alleging generally that the Company unlawfully
poached key Karma employees and misappropriated Karma’s trade secrets and other confidential information. The Amended
Complaint contains a total of 28 counts, including: (i) alleged violations under federal law of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act
and the Defend Trade Secrets Act; (ii) alleged violations of California law for misappropriation of trade secrets and unfair
competition; (iii) common law claims for breach of contract and tortious interference with contract; (iv) common law claims for
breach of contract, including confidentiality agreements, employment agreements and the non-binding letter of intent; and (v)
alleged common law claims for breach of duties of loyalty and fiduciary duties. The Amended Complaint also asserts claims for
conspiracy, fraud, interstate racketeering activity, and violations of certain provisions of the California Penal Code relating to
unauthorized computer access. Karma is seeking permanent injunctive relief and monetary damages based on a variety of claims
and theories asserting very substantial losses by Karma and/or improper benefit to the Company that significantly exceed the
Company’s accrual with respect to the matter and ability to pay. The Company has opposed Karma’s damages claims on factual
and legal grounds, including lack of causality. The Company is vigorously challenging Karma’s asserted damages.

After several months of discovery, Karma filed a motion for preliminary injunction on August 8, 2021, seeking to temporarily enjoin
the Company from producing any vehicle that incorporated Karma’s alleged trade secrets. On August 16, 2021, Karma also
moved for sanctions for spoliation of evidence. On September 16, 2021, the District Court denied Karma’s motion for a
preliminary injunction, and denied, in part, and granted, in part, Karma’s motion for sanctions. As a result of its partial grant of
Karma’s sanctions motion, the District Court awarded Karma a permissive adverse inference jury instruction, the scope of which
will be determined at trial.

On January 14, 2022, Karma filed a motion for terminating sanctions (i.e., judgment in its favor on all claims) against the
Company and defendant, Darren Post, as a result of Mr. Post’s handling of documents subject to discovery requests. The
Company and Mr. Post opposed the request for sanctions. On February 18, 2022, the Court granted in part Karma’s motion for
sanctions against Mr. Post and the Company, finding that Karma was entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred as
a result of Mr. Post’s and the Company’s failure to comply with the Court’s discovery orders. Karma’s request for terminating
sanctions was denied. As a result of the Court’s order, on March 4, 2022, Karma submitted its application for attorneys’ fees and
costs in the amount of $0.1 million. The Company did not oppose Karma’s application, and on March 21, 2022, the
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Court ordered an award of Karma’s costs and attorneys’ fees against the Company and Mr. Post in the amount of $0.1 million,
which has been paid by the Company.

On July 22, 2022, Karma filed a second motion for terminating sanctions against the Company and against Mr. Post based upon
Mr. Post’s installation of anti-forensic software on his personal computers following his second deposition. Karma requested that
the Court enter a default judgment on all claims against Mr. Post and the Company. Karma asked that, in the event terminating
sanctions were not issued, the Court order a negative adverse inference on “remaining issues,” specifically that “Defendants
Lordstown Motors Corp. and Darren Post shall be presumed to have misappropriated Karma’s trade secrets and confidential
information, used Karma’s trade secrets and confidential information, and deliberately and maliciously destroyed evidence of their
misappropriation and use of Karma’s trade secrets and confidential information in considering all damages and maliciousness.”
The Court denied Karma’s second request for terminating sanctions in all respects.

On September 27, 2022, Karma filed an ex parte application to continue the trial date until January 2023. The Company opposed
the request. On September 28, 2022, the Court denied Karma’s request to continue the trial. However, on October 26, following
the receipt of the parties’ pretrial filings, the Court, on its own initiative vacated the December 6, 2022 trial date. The Court
subsequently scheduled trial to begin on April 11, 2023. After one of the Company’s expert witnesses was diagnosed with a
serious illness shortly before trial, the Court requested a continuance of the trial date. The trial is now scheduled for September 5,
2023.

In late November 2022, the Court ruled on the motion for summary judgment filed by the Company and the individual defendants.
The ruling granted summary judgment in defendants’ favor on 9 counts and partial summary judgment on 11 counts of Karma’s
Complaint. Although favorable, the ruling does not substantively alter the scope of the trial, as Karma’s claims for
misappropriation of trade secrets, conspiracy, breach of the non-disclosure agreement, interference with Karma’s employment
contracts, and violation of the computer fraud statutes will be the subject of the trial.

The Company is continuing to evaluate the matters asserted in the lawsuit and is vigorously defending against Karma’s claims.
The Company continues to believe that there are strong defenses to the claims and any damages demanded. The proceedings
are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.

Six related putative securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and certain of its current and former officers
and directors and former DiamondPeak directors between March 18, 2021 and May 14, 2021 in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Ohio (Rico v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al. (Case No. 21-cv-616); Palumbo v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.
(Case No. 21-cv-633); Zuod v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al. (Case No. 21-cv-720); Brury v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.
(Case No. 21-cv-760); Romano v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al., (Case No. 21-cv-994); and FNY Managed Accounts LLC v.
Lordstown Motors Corp., et al. (Case No. 21-cv-1021)). The matters have been consolidated and the Court appointed George
Troicky as lead plaintiff and Labaton Sucharow LLP as lead plaintiff’s counsel. On September 10, 2021, lead plaintiff and several
additional named plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint, asserting violations of federal securities laws under
Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a), and Section 20A of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder against the
Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint generally alleges that the Company and
individual defendants made materially false and misleading statements relating to vehicle pre-orders and production timeline.
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which is fully briefed as of March 3, 2022. A hearing on the motion to dismiss has not been
scheduled and a decision has not yet been rendered. We intend to vigorously defend against the claims. The proceedings are
subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.

Four related stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed against certain of the Company’s officers and directors, former
DiamondPeak directors, and against the Company as a nominal defendant between April 28, 2021 and July 9, 2021 in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Delaware (Cohen, et al. v. Burns, et al. (Case No. 21-cv-604); Kelley, et al. v. Burns, et al. (Case
No. 12-cv-724); Patterson, et al. v. Burns, et al. (Case No. 21-cv-910); and Sarabia v. Burns, et al. (Case No. 21-cv-1010)). The
derivative actions in the District Court of Delaware have been consolidated. On August 27, 2021, plaintiffs filed a consolidated
amended complaint,
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asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a) and Section 21D of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, all relating to vehicle pre-orders, production timeline,
and the merger with DiamondPeak. On October 11, 2021, defendants filed a motion to stay this consolidated derivative action
pending resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action. On March 7, 2022, the court granted in part
defendants' motion to stay, staying the action until the resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class
action, but requiring the parties to submit a status report if the motion to dismiss was not resolved by September 3, 2022. The
court further determined to dismiss without a motion, on the grounds that the claim was premature, plaintiffs' claim for contribution
for violations of Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act without prejudice. The parties filed a joint status report as required
because the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action was not resolved as of September 3, 2022. The parties
filed additional court-ordered joint status reports on October 28, 2022, January 6, 2023 and April 3, 2023. On April 4, 2023, the
Court ordered the parties to submit a letter brief addressing whether the Court should lift the stay. On April 14, 2023, the parties
submitted a joint letter requesting that the Court not lift the stay. On April 17, 2023, the court lifted the stay and ordered the parties
to meet and confer by May 8, 2023 and submit a proposed case-management plan. We intend to vigorously defend against the
claims. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.

Another related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio on June 30, 2021
(Thai v. Burns, et al. (Case No. 21-cv-1267)), asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a) and Section 21D
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, breach of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross
mismanagement, and waste, based on similar facts as the consolidated derivative action in the District Court of Delaware. On
October 21, 2021, the court in the Northern District of Ohio derivative action entered a stipulated stay of the action and scheduling
order relating to defendants’ anticipated motion to dismiss and/or subsequent motion to stay that is similarly conditioned on the
resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action. We intend to vigorously defend against the claims.
The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.

Another related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery on December 2, 2021 (Cormier v.
Burns, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1049)), asserting breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, based on similar
facts as the federal derivative actions. An additional related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of
Chancery on February 18, 2022 (Jackson v. Burns, et al. (C.A. No. 2022-0164)), also asserting breach of fiduciary duties, unjust
enrichment, and insider selling, based on similar facts as the federal derivative actions. On April 19, 2022, the parties in Cormier
and Jackson filed a stipulation and proposed order consolidating the two actions, staying the litigation until the resolution of the
motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action and appointing Schubert Jonckheer & Kolbe LLP and Lifshitz Law
PLLC as Co-Lead Counsel. On May 10, 2022, the court granted the parties’ proposed stipulation and order to consolidate the
actions, and to stay the consolidated action pending the resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class
action. While the action remains stayed, on June 24, 2022, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint asserting similar claims,
and substituting a new plaintiff (Ed Lomont) for Cormier, who no longer appears to be a named plaintiff in the consolidated action.
We intend to vigorously defend against these actions. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation
process.

Two putative class action lawsuits were filed against former DiamondPeak directors and DiamondPeak Sponsor LLC on
December 8 and 13, 2021 in the Delaware Court of Chancery (Hebert v. Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1066); and Amin v
Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1085)). The plaintiffs purport to represent a class of investors in DiamondPeak and assert
breach of fiduciary duty claims based on allegations that the defendants made or failed to prevent alleged misrepresentations
regarding vehicle pre-orders and production timeline, and that but for those allegedly false and misleading disclosures, the
plaintiffs would have exercised a right to redeem their shares prior to the de-SPAC transaction. On February 9, 2022, the parties
filed a stipulation and proposed order consolidating the two putative class action lawsuits, appointing Hebert and Amin as co-lead
plaintiffs, appointing Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP and Pomerantz LLP as co-lead counsel and setting a briefing
schedule for the motions to dismiss and motions to stay. The motions to stay were fully briefed as of February 23, 2022 and the
court held oral argument on February 28, 2022. On
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March 7, 2022, the court denied the motion to stay. On March 10, 2022, defendants filed their brief in support of their motion to
dismiss. The motion to dismiss was fully briefed on April 27, 2022, and was scheduled for oral argument on May 10, 2022. On
May 6, 2022, defendants withdrew the motion to dismiss without prejudice. On July 22, 2022, co-lead plaintiffs filed an amended
class action complaint asserting similar claims. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended class action complaint on
October 14, 2022. Plaintiffs’ answering brief and Defendants’ reply brief were due on November 18 and December 9, 2022,
respectively. Oral argument on the motion to dismiss was scheduled for January 6, 2023. On January 5, 2023, the defendants
withdrew their motion to dismiss. On February 2, 2023, the court issued a case scheduling order setting forth pre-trial deadlines
and a date for trial in March 2024. On February 3, 2023, defendants filed their answer to plaintiffs’ amended class action
complaint. On February 7, 2023, plaintiffs served the Company, as a non-party, with a subpoena for certain information, which the
Company responded to on February 21, 2023. Plaintiff and the Company, as a non-party, are currently meeting and conferring
regarding the scope of the Company’s discovery obligations pursuant to the subpoena. The defendants intend to vigorously
defend against the claims. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.

In addition, between approximately March 26, 2021 and September 23, 2021, LMC received eight demands for books and
records pursuant to Section 220 of the Delaware General Corporation Law from stockholders who state they are investigating
whether to file similar derivative lawsuits, among other purposes. A lawsuit to compel inspection of books and records under 8
Del. C. § 220 was filed against the Company on May 31, 2022 in the Delaware Court of Chancery (Turner v. Lordstown Motors
Corp. (C.A. No. 2022-0468)). The plaintiff sought production of documents related to, among other things, vehicle pre-orders,
production timeline, and stock sales by insiders. The Company made supplemental document productions in connection with
discussions to resolve or narrow this action. On December 6, 2022, the parties filed a stipulation to dismiss the action with
prejudice and, as a result, the Turner matter has been completely resolved and there are no disputes as to the remaining books
and records requests.

The Company has also received two subpoenas from the SEC for the production of documents and information, including relating
to the merger between DiamondPeak and Legacy Lordstown and pre-orders of vehicles, and the Company has been informed by
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York that it is investigating these matters. The Company has
cooperated, and will continue to cooperate, with these and any other regulatory or governmental investigations and inquiries.

On January 26, 2023, we filed a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery pursuant to Section 205 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (“DGCL”), which permits the Court of Chancery, in its discretion, to validate potentially defective corporate acts
and stock after considering a variety of factors, due to developments regarding potential interpretations of the DGCL. As
previously disclosed, on March 24, 2022, we received a letter addressed to the Board from the law firm of Purcell & Lefkowitz LLP
(“Purcell”) on behalf of three purported stockholders. Among other matters, the stockholder letter addressed the approval of our
Charter at the special meeting of stockholders held on October 22, 2020, which included a 200 million share increase in the
number of authorized shares of Class A common stock (the “2020 Class A Increase Amendment”), and was approved by a
majority of the then-outstanding shares of both our Class A and Class B common stock, voting as a single class. The stockholder
letter alleged that the 2020 Class A Increase Amendment required a separate vote in favor by at least a majority of the then
outstanding shares of Class A common stock under Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL, and that the 200 million shares in question
were thus unauthorized. Following receipt of the stockholder letter, the Board undertook a review of the matters raised with the
assistance of outside counsel not involved in the underlying transactions at issue and had determined, in reliance upon, among
other things, advice of several law firms including a legal opinion of Delaware counsel, that the assertions regarding DGCL
Section 242(b)(2) were wrong and that a separate class vote of the Class A common stock was not required to approve the 2020
Class A Increase Amendment. We continue to believe that a separate vote of Class A common stock was not required to approve
the 2020 Class A Increase Amendment. However, in light of a recent decision of the Court of Chancery that created uncertainty
regarding this issue, we filed a petition in the Court of Chancery pursuant to Section 205 seeking validation of the 2020 Class A
Increase Amendment and the shares issued pursuant thereto to resolve any uncertainty with respect to those matters. In
February 2023, the Court of Chancery held a hearing on our
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petition and, on February 28, 2023 issued an amended order granting the Company’s motion to validate each of the following and
eliminate the uncertainty with respect thereto: (1) the 2020 Class A Increase Amendment and the Charter as of the time of filing
with the Delaware Secretary of State, and (2) all shares of capital stock that we issued in reliance on the effectiveness of the 2020
Class A Increase Amendment and the Charter as of the date of such shares were issued.

NOTE 8 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s Board has adopted a written Related Party Transaction Policy that sets forth policies and procedures for the
review and approval or ratification of any transaction, arrangement or relationship in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was, is or will be a participant, the amount of which exceeds $120,000 and in which any director, executive officer or beneficial
owner of 5% or more of the Class A common stock had, has or will have a direct or indirect material interest (a “Related Party
Transaction”). Pursuant to this policy, the Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) reviews and approves any
proposed Related Party Transaction, considering among other factors it deems appropriate, whether the Related Party
Transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar
circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. The Audit Committee may then approve or
disapprove the transaction in its discretion. Any related person transaction will be disclosed in the applicable SEC filing as
required by the rules of the SEC.

Pursuant to the Investment Agreement described in Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share, Foxconn’s beneficial ownership
of Class A common stock exceeded 5% in November 2022 causing Foxconn to become a related party. The Company has
entered into the Foxconn Transactions with Foxconn described under Note 1 – Description of Organization and Business
Operations – Foxconn Transactions. See Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Foxconn Notice for additional information regarding the
status of the Foxconn Transactions.

In August 2020, we entered into an emissions credit agreement with GM pursuant to which, and subject to the terms of which,
until the completion of the first three annual production/model years wherein we produce vehicles at least ten months out of the
production/model year, the counterparty will have the option to purchase such emissions credits as well as emissions credits from
any other U.S. state, country or jurisdiction generated by vehicles produced by us not otherwise required by us to comply with
emissions laws and regulations at a purchase price equal to 75% of the fair market value of such credits. While we have launched
the Endurance as a 2023 model year, due to the production delays from early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a
strategic partner for the Endurance, and extremely limited ability to raise capital in the current market environment, we anticipate
production of the Endurance will cease in the near future. Therefore, the duration of our obligations under this agreement will
extend for several years and are ultimately dependent upon whether we are able to launch a new vehicle and the associated
timing and/or our ability to obtain a strategic partner to support the scaling of the Endurance.

In November 2019, the Company entered into a transaction with Workhorse Group, for the purpose of obtaining certain
intellectual property. In connection with granting this license, Workhorse Group received 10% of the outstanding Legacy
Lordstown common stock, valued at $11.1 million, and was entitled to royalties of 1% of the gross sales price of the first 200,000
vehicle sales.

In November 2020, we prepaid the royalty payment of $4.75 million, representing an advance on the royalties discussed above,
but only to the extent that the aggregate amount of such royalty fees exceeded the amount paid upfront.
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Given that Workhorse Group technology is not being used in the Endurance and our strategic direction, inclusive of the
transactions contemplated with Foxconn, we deemed it appropriate to terminate the royalty agreement. As such, we recorded a
charge of $4.75 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 to write-off prepaid royalty.

NOTE 9 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Nasdaq Notice

On April 19, 2023, the Company received the Nasdaq Notice indicating that, because the closing bid price for the Company’s
Class A common stock had fallen below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days (March 7, 2023 through April 18,
2023), the Company was no longer in compliance with the Bid Price Requirement.

Pursuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has a compliance cure period of 180 calendar days, or until
October 16, 2023, to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of the
Company’s Class A common stock must meet or exceed $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days prior to
October 16, 2023. If the Company does not regain compliance by October 16, 2023, the Company may be eligible for an
additional grace period.

The Company is currently evaluating various courses of action to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement, including
implementing a reverse stock split if such action is authorized by the Company’s stockholders. In anticipation of receipt of the
Nasdaq Notice, on April 11, 2023, the Company filed a definitive proxy statement (the “Proxy Statement”) for the Company’s
annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 22, 2023 (the “Annual Meeting”) which included a proposal to amend the
Charter, to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s Class A common stock at a reverse stock split ratio ranging from 1:3 to
1:15, and to authorize the Company’s board of directors to determine, at its discretion, the timing of the amendment and the
specific ratio of the reverse stock split (the “Reverse Stock Split Proposal”).

There can be no assurance that stockholders will approve the Reverse Stock Split Proposal at the Annual Meeting, that a reverse
stock split, if implemented, will increase the market price of the Class A common stock in proportion to the reduction in the
number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding before such reverse stock split or, even if it does, that such price will be
maintained for any period of time. Additional information, including certain risks associated with the Reverse Stock Split Proposal,
can be found in the Proxy Statement.

Foxconn Notice

On April 21, 2023, the Company received the Foxconn Notice (1) asserting that the Company was in breach of the Investment
Agreement due to its previously disclosed receipt of the Nasdaq Notice indicating that the Company was no longer in compliance
with the Bid Price Requirement and (2) purporting to terminate the Investment Agreement if the breach is not cured within 30
days. In response, the Company notified Foxconn in writing on April 25, 2023 that (1) it believes the breach allegations in the
Foxconn Notice are without merit, (2) the Investment Agreement, by its terms, does not permit Foxconn to terminate it following
the Initial Closing, and (3) in any event, Foxconn cannot exercise termination rights because Foxconn has breached the
Investment Agreement by failing to use necessary efforts to agree upon the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones to
facilitate the Subsequent Preferred Funding.

On May 1, 2023, after having publicly disclosed the Foxconn Notice, the Company received the Second Foxconn Notice (1)
indicating that Foxconn agrees that it is unable to terminate the Investment Agreement after the Initial Closing, (2) asserting that
the Nasdaq Notice constitutes a breach of a representation that is a condition to the Subsequent Common Closing and, therefore,
Foxconn is not obligated to consummate the Subsequent Common Closing until such breach is cured, and (3) asserting that the
Company’s claims
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regarding Foxconn’s breach of the Investment Agreement with respect to the EV Program and Subsequent Preferred Funding are
without merit.

The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to
complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and
remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones, its funding obligations and its knowing and intentional efforts to invalidly terminate the Investment
Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material detriment of the Company.

The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an
impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we
do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common
Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations.
The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not reached.

Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes. Forward-looking
statements in this MD&A are not guarantees of future performance and may involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected. Refer to the "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements"
and Part I – Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Form 10-K and under Part II – Item 1A. Risk Factors below for a discussion of these
risks and uncertainties, including without limitation, with respect to our estimated production timeline, need for additional financing
and the risks related to effectively implementing and realizing the benefits of the Foxconn Transactions.

Our mission is to accelerate adoption and to be a catalyst in the transition of commercial fleets to all-EVs for a more sustainable
future. We are an EV innovator focused on developing high-quality light-duty work vehicles. We believe we are one of the only
North American light duty OEMs focused solely on EVs for commercial fleet customers. We believe the large commercial fleet
market presents a unique opportunity for vehicles designed specifically for the needs of these customers. Our strategy is
designed to accelerate the launch of new commercial EVs. This includes working on our own vehicle programs as well as
partnering with third parties, including Foxconn and its affiliates, as we seek to leverage our vehicle development experience, our
proprietary and open-source and other non-proprietary technologies, our existing Endurance vehicle platform, and potentially new
vehicle platforms to drive commonality and scale, and more efficiently develop and launch EVs, to enhance capital efficiency and
achieve profitability.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, we entered into agreements with Foxconn (see Note 1 – Description of Organization and Business
Operations), that resulted in more than $280 million in funding for the Company.

The Foxconn Transactions were part of a shift in our business strategy from a vertically integrated OEM designer, developer and
manufacturer of EVs into a less capital-intensive OEM business focused on designing, developing, engineering, testing,
industrializing, and launching vehicles in partnership with Foxconn. Since October of 2021, Foxconn has invested approximately
$103 million in our Class A common stock and Preferred Stock.

Pursuant to the Investment Agreement with Foxconn, described above and in Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share,
Foxconn agreed to provide up to $117.3 million of additional funding, subject to conditions, including satisfaction of certain EV
Program budget and EV Program milestones as set forth in the Investment
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Agreement. Proceeds from the Preferred Stock may only be used in connection with the EV Program or any substitute or
replacement electric vehicle program as agreed to by Foxconn and the Company.

On November 22, 2022, Foxconn purchased approximately $22.7 million of Class A common stock and $30 million of Preferred
Stock in the Initial Closing. The Investment Agreement provides for the Subsequent Common Closing at which time Foxconn is
required to purchase approximately 26.9 million shares of Class A common stock for approximately $47.3 million. The
Subsequent Common Closing is to occur within 10 business days following the parties’ receipt of CFIUS Clearance and subject to
satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement (which the Company believes have been or will be
satisfied). CFIUS Clearance was received on April 25, 2023, which means the Subsequent Common Closing is to occur on or
before May 8, 2023. The Company is ready, willing and able to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on a timely basis.

In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program budget and the EV Program milestones and satisfaction of those
EV Program milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn is to purchase in two tranches, a
total of 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share for aggregate proceeds of $70
million. The parties agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV Program budget and EV Program
milestones no later than May 7, 2023.

The completion of the Subsequent Common Closing and the Subsequent Preferred Funding would provide critical liquidity for the
Company’s operations, but the Company’s dispute with Foxconn means there is substantial uncertainty that such funding can be
obtained. See Note 9 – Subsequent Events - Foxconn Notices. The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution
regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the
close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program
budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these
matters or that any such resolution will allow the Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on
a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of
critical funding necessary for its operations.

Since inception, we have been developing our flagship vehicle, the Endurance™, an electric full-size pickup truck. In the third
quarter of 2022, the Company started commercial production of the Endurance with the first two vehicles completing assembly in
September. The Company subsequently completed homologation and testing and received required certifications enabling us to
begin sales in the fourth quarter of 2022. The rate of Endurance production remained very low during the fourth quarter of 2022
as we addressed launch-related issues that are often discovered as an entirely new vehicle begins operating in new and different
environments by customers. Those challenges continued into the first quarter of 2023 as performance and quality issues with
certain suppliers’ components led us to temporarily pause production and customer deliveries until mid-April 2023. Some of these
issues were discovered by us or our suppliers, though some were experienced by our initial customers. In this regard, we filed
paperwork with NHTSA to voluntarily recall the Endurance to address these supplier quality issues. Production will remain at a
very low rate as we continue to address any remaining, and to the extent we discover new, Endurance performance and
component quality issues, manage ongoing supply chain constraints with key components, including hub motor components, and
conserve funding given the high BOM cost.

Any further disruptions caused by one or more of these factors could lead to further pauses in vehicle builds or delivery of
completed vehicles, or future recalls. We continue to evaluate the merits of producing and selling vehicles to customers in order
to seed the commercial fleet market, demonstrate the capabilities of the Endurance, and support our OEM partnership pursuits.
Due to the production delays from early January to mid-April 2023, the failure to identify a strategic partner for the Endurance,
and extremely limited ability to raise capital in the current market environment, we anticipate production of the Endurance will
cease in the near future.
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As a result of having insufficient capital to execute our business plan, we have made and are continuing to make trade-offs with
respect to how we allocate our capital, including substantially limiting investments in tooling, other aspects of the Endurance and
our operations. The trade-offs we are making, including related to hard tooling, have and are likely to continue to result in higher
costs for the Company in the future and are likely to slow or impair future design enhancements or options we may otherwise
seek to make available to Endurance customers. As a further result, our ability to establish multi-year production volumes
consistent with our suppliers’ expectations is limited. These factors, among others, result in a BOM cost for the Endurance that is,
and will continue to be, significantly higher than the current selling price. We have identified significant piece price savings from
future investments that we could seek to realize over time. While we believe we will be able to achieve cost improvements over
time if we are able to obtain a strategic partner to provide additional capital or other support to scale the Endurance, we do not
anticipate reaching a positive gross margin until or unless we are able to make the investments and design enhancements to
reduce the BOM cost. However, no assurances can be made regarding our ability to successfully identify and implement actions
that will lower the Endurance BOM cost, including that we will have sufficient capital to make these investments, or that our
suppliers will be willing or able to manufacture the tools or the parts.

We are seeking strategic partners, including other automakers, to provide additional capital or other support to enable us to scale
the Endurance program and to develop new vehicle programs in cooperation with Foxconn or otherwise. To date, we have not
identified a strategic partner for the Endurance.

Our current sales and marketing efforts have been focused on direct sales through our subsidiary, Lordstown EV Sales, LLC, to
commercial fleet operators and fleet management companies rather than through third-party dealerships. Our expected limited
production levels and the fact that we have not achieved consistent serial production has made it more difficult to get support from
commercial fleets or fleet management companies in the marketing, sale and distribution of the Endurance.

As of March 31, 2023, property, plant, and equipment was reviewed for potential impairment for recoverability by comparing the
carrying amount of our asset group to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. As
the carrying amount of our asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, we recognized an impairment
charge of $109.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 based on the difference between the carrying value of the
fixed assets and their fair value as of March 31, 2023. The fair value was derived from the Company's enterprise value at the time
of impairment as we believe it represents the most appropriate fair value of the asset group in accordance with accounting
guidance. Additional impairments could occur in future periods and may be significant.

The Company’s ability to raise capital is currently severely limited due to the current market environment and Company specific
factors. Therefore, notwithstanding management’s plans and efforts to date, there continues to be substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on
terms that allow us to continue operating as planned, identify other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our
significant contingent liabilities, we may need to further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary
petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. If this were to occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our
creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual
recovery, if any, by holders of our securities in bankruptcy proceedings, if any.

See Part I – Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Form 10-K and Part II – Item 1A. Risk Factors below for further discussion of the risks
associated with the capital required to execute our business plan and our ability to continue as a going concern and
consummation of the Foxconn Transactions, among other risks.
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Results of Operations for the three months ended three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands)
Three months ended Three months ended

March 31, 2023      March 31, 2022
Net sales $ 189 $  —
Cost of sales 30,811  —
Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses   14,686   26,019
Research and development expenses 1   14,425   61,864
Impairment of property plant & equipment, prepaids
and intangibles 114,440  — 
Total operating expenses $ 143,551 $ 87,883

Loss from operations $ (174,174) $ (87,883)
Other income (expense)   64   (1,492)
Interest income   2,391   (258)
Loss before income taxes $ (171,719) $ (89,633)
Income tax expense    —    — 
Net loss (171,719) (89,633)
Less preferred stock dividend (605)  — 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (171,114) $ (89,633)

Revenue and Cost of Sales

The Company completed homologation and testing and received required certifications enabling sales of the Endurance to begin
in the fourth quarter of 2022. We experienced performance and quality issues with certain Endurance components that led us to
temporarily pause production and customer deliveries from early January through the middle of April 2023. As a result, we sold
only three vehicles during the first quarter of 2023.

Cost of sales totaled $30.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023, consisting of $3.6 million in costs associated with
producing the Endurance, including direct materials net of an adjustment to inventory to NRV, product warranty accruals and
other costs related to selling and delivering the vehicles. The Company recorded $7.5 million in manufacturing depreciation for
the three months ended March 31, 2023. In light of the fact that we anticipate production of the Endurance will cease in the near
future, the Company has revised its estimate of the useful life of manufacturing assets, shortening the depreciation period to July
31, 2023. Accordingly, as of April 1, 2023, depreciation on these assets was revised to account for this change in estimate that
will result in substantially higher depreciation. Additionally, for the three months ended March 31, 2023 the Company recorded a
$19.8 million inventory reserve to reflect NRV. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 4 — Property,
Plant and Equipment regarding depreciation and inventory charges.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administration expenses (“SG&A”) of $14.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023 consisted
primarily of $8.3 million in personnel and professional fees, $3.0 million in legal fees, and $1.5 million in insurance premiums.
Compared to the first quarter of 2022, SG&A was $11.3 million lower, due primarily to decreases of $3.0 million in legal fees, $3.0
million in consulting and non-legal professional fees, $1.6 million in insurance premiums and $1.1 million in personnel costs.
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Research and Development Expense

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses were $14.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023, compared to
$61.9 million in the same period in 2022. The significant decrease was due to the elimination of the costs associated with
operating the Lordstown, Ohio facility, which was sold on May 11, 2022, as discussed in Note 1 – Description of Organization and
Business Operations. During the first quarter of 2022, the total costs associated with operating the plant were $40.5 million,
consisting primarily of $19.3 million in prototype components, $10.2 million in personnel and professional fees, $5.6 million in
freight, and $5.4 million in utilities and other general costs. Included in R&D for the first quarter of 2023 are $14.4 million of
expenses for the ongoing development and engineering work associated with the Endurance and future programs, consisting of
$9.7 million in personnel costs, $2.2 million for outside engineering and consulting services and $2.5 million in prototype
components and other testing and development supplies. For the period ended March 31, 2022, the Company’s development and
engineering costs were $21.3 million, including $7.3 million in personnel costs, $9.7 million in outside engineering and consulting
services, and $4.4 million in prototype components and other testing and development supplies.

Impairment of fixed assets

Property, plant, and equipment is periodically reviewed for potential impairment for recoverability by comparing the carrying
amount of our asset group to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. As the
carrying amount of our asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, we recognized a $109.8 million
impairment charge for the three months ended March 31, 2023 based on the difference between the carrying value of the fixed
assets and their fair value as of March 31, 2023. The fair value was derived from the Company’s enterprise value at the time of
impairment as we believe it represents the most appropriate fair value of the asset group in accordance with accounting
guidance. There was no impairment charge recognized for the same period in 2022. Additional impairments could occur in future
periods and may be significant.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $176.7 million and an accumulated deficit of
$998.9 million at March 31, 2023 and a net loss of $171.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

In September of 2022, the Company started commercial production of the Endurance with the first two vehicles completing
assembly. The rate of Endurance production remained very low during the fourth quarter of 2022 as we addressed launch-related
issues that are often discovered as an entirely new vehicle begins operating in new and different environments by customers.
Those challenges continued into the first quarter of 2023 as performance and quality issues with certain suppliers’ components
led us to temporarily pause production and customer deliveries until mid-April 2023. Production will remain at a very low rate as
we continue to address any remaining, and to the extent we discover new, Endurance performance and component quality
issues, manage ongoing supply chain constraints with key components, including hub motor components, and conserve funding
given the high BOM cost. For the foreseeable future, we will incur significant operating expenses, capital expenditures and
working capital funding that will deplete our cash on hand. As a result of having insufficient capital to execute our business plan,
we have made and are continuing to make trade-offs with respect to how we allocate our capital, including substantially limiting
investments in tooling, other aspects of the Endurance and our operations. The trade-offs we are making, including related to
hard tooling, have and are likely to continue to result in higher costs for the Company in the future and are likely to slow or impair
future design enhancements or options we may otherwise seek to make available to Endurance customers. The performance and
component quality and other supplier issues we have experienced with the Endurance have caused us to incur significant
research and development expenses after the launch. Although there has been some improvement in the first quarter of 2023,
the Company continues to manage challenges with its supply chain, including part pedigree and availability. See Part I - Item 1A.
Risk Factors in our Form 10-K and Part II - Item 1A. Risk Factors below for further discussion of the risks associated with
disruptions to the supply chain.
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We also have meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing litigation and regulatory proceedings for which
insurance coverage has been denied for certain claims and may be unavailable for those and other claims. While we have
engaged and continue to engage in discussions with the parties in these proceedings, we have not been able to reach a
resolution of these matters. See Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies for additional information and Part II - Item 1A. Risk
Factors.

We need significant additional funding in the near term to execute our business plan, including to scale the Endurance and
develop new vehicles, and to maintain our targeted minimum liquidity of $75 to $100 million.

Our ability to obtain additional financing is extremely limited under current market conditions, in particular for our industry, and
also influenced by other factors including the significant amount of capital required, the Foxconn dispute, the fact that the BOM
cost of the Endurance is currently, and expected to continue to be, substantially higher than our selling price, uncertainty
surrounding the performance of any vehicle produced by us, meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing
litigation and the SEC investigation, the Nasdaq Notice, the market price of our stock and potential dilution from the issuance of
any additional securities. To date, we have not identified a strategic partner for the Endurance.  To the extent we do not identify 
such a partner, we anticipate that production of the Endurance will cease in the near future. As a result of these uncertainties,
there is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with
Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to continue operating as planned, identify other sources of funding, identify a
strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent liabilities, we may need to further curtail or cease operations and seek
protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. If this were to occur, the value available to our
various stakeholders, including our creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and trading prices for our securities may bear little or
no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by holders of our securities in bankruptcy proceedings, if any.

As discussed under Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share, on November 7, 2022, the Company entered into the Sales
Agreement for the ATM Offering with Jefferies, pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell up to approximately 50.2
million shares of its Class A common stock from time to time through Jefferies. In the future, additional sales will depend on a
variety of factors, including the sales price of the Class A common stock being at least $1.00, higher than our current stock price,
and our ability to maintain compliance with exchange listing requirements, which as of April 19, 2023, we were not (see Note 9 –
Subsequent Events – Nasdaq Notice). Even if the Company had the ability under the Sales Agreement to issue additional shares
of Class A common stock, no assurances can be given that it would sell any shares of Class A common stock under the Sales
Agreement, or, if it does, as to the price or amount of the shares that it sells or the dates when such sales will take place. Even if
additional funds are raised under the ATM Offering, the Company will require additional financing to execute its business plan.

Pursuant to the Investment Agreement with Foxconn, described above and in Note 6 – Capital Stock and Loss Per Share and
Note 9 – Subsequent Events – Foxconn Notice, Foxconn has agreed to provide up to $117.3 million of additional funding, subject
to conditions, including establishment of the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones and satisfaction of the EV Program
milestones as set forth in the Investment Agreement. Proceeds from the Preferred Stock may only be used in connection with the
EV Program or any substitute or replacement electric vehicle program as agreed to by Foxconn and the Company. The
completion of the Subsequent Common Closing and the Subsequent Preferred Funding would provide critical liquidity for the
Company’s operations, but the Company’s dispute with Foxconn means there is substantial uncertainty that such funding can be
obtained. See Note 9 – Subsequent Events - Foxconn Notices. The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by
Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023.
The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to
Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones, its funding obligations and its knowing and
intentional efforts to invalidly terminate the Investment Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material
detriment of the Company. The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however,
to date, the parties are at an impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common
Closing on May 8, 2023 and
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we do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common
Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations.
The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not reached.

Pursuant to the requirements of the FASB’s ASC Topic 205-40, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as
a Going Concern, management must evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year from the date the consolidated financial
statements included in this report are issued. This evaluation does not take into consideration the potential mitigating effect of
management’s plans that have not been fully implemented or are not within control of the Company as of the date the financial
statements are issued. When substantial doubt exists, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently
alleviates substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s
plans, however, is only considered if both (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the
date that the financial statements are issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, will mitigate the relevant
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

See Risk Factors under Part I - Item 1A. of our Form 10-K and Part II – Item 1A. Risk Factors below for further discussion of the
risks associated with our need for additional financing and loss exposures, among other risks.

Summary of Cash Flows

The following table provides a summary of Lordstown’s cash flow data for the period indicated:

(in thousands)

     Three months ended      Three months ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Net Cash used in operating activities $ (38,116) $ (69,033)
Net Cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 24,844 $ (21,896)
Net Cash provided by financing activities $  — $ 50,477

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

For the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to 2022, net cash used in operating activities decreased by $30.9 million.
The net loss increased $82.0 million from the first quarter of 2022 to the first quarter of 2023, due to $141.9 million in non-cash
charges related to the impairment of property, plant, and equipment, depreciation, and write down of inventory and prepaids. The
overall decrease in cash used in operating activities during the first quarter of 2023 compared to the same period in 2022 was
primarily due to lower SG&A and R&D expense as discussed in the results of operations, partially offset by changes in working
capital.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

For the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to 2022, cash used in investing activities increased $46.7 million primarily
due to maturities of short-term investments during the three months ended 2023 compared to the same period of 2022.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

For the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to 2022, cash flows from financing activities decreased $50.4 million.
There were no financing transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to 2022. The financing activities
during the first quarter related to the $50.0 million down payment received from Foxconn.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no obligations, assets or liabilities, which would be considered off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2023.
We do not participate in transactions that create relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, often referred
to as variable interest entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements.
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet financing arrangements, established any special purpose entities, guaranteed
any debt or commitments of other entities, or purchased any non-financial assets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more
information about recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and management’s assessment, to the extent
they have made one, of their potential impact on Lordstown’s financial condition and results of operations.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

On March 31, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $176.7 million. We believe that
a 10 basis point change in interest rates is likely in the near term. Based on our current level of investment, an increase or
decrease of 10 basis points in interest rates would not have a material impact to our cash balances.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Management’s Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are controls and other
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in company reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure controls
and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide
absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure
controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
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Based upon their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of March 31, 2023.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended March 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For a description of our legal proceedings, see Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There are no material changes from the risk factors set forth in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Form 10-K, except as set
forth below. In addition to the risk factors set forth below and the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully
consider the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Form 10-K and Forms 10-Q, which could materially affect
our business, financial condition or future operating results.

We are in a dispute with Foxconn regarding the matters asserted in the Foxconn Notices and if we are unable to resolve
the dispute in a timely manner to obtain the benefits we expect under the Investment Agreement, we may not be able to
raise the additional funding from Foxconn that is critical to operations which will have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and prospects and we will be required to substantially curtail or may cease operations or
file for bankruptcy protection.

Under the Investment Agreement, Foxconn agreed to make additional equity investments in the Company through the purchase
of $70 million of Class A common stock and $100 million of Preferred Stock, subject to certain conditions. On November 22,
2022, the parties completed the Initial Closing under the Investment Agreement, pursuant to which Foxconn purchased
approximately $22.7 million of Class A common stock and $30 million of Preferred Stock.

The Investment Agreement provides for the Subsequent Common Closing, at which time Foxconn is required to purchase
approximately 26.9 million shares of Class A common stock for approximately $47.3 million. The Subsequent Common Closing is
to occur within 10 business days following the parties’ receipt of CFIUS Clearance and subject to satisfaction of the other
conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement (which the Company believes have been or will be satisfied). CFIUS Clearance
was received on April 25, 2023, which means the Subsequent Common Closing is to occur on or before May 8, 2023. The
Company is ready, willing and able to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on a timely basis.

In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones and satisfaction of such
milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn is to purchase in two tranches, a total of 0.7
million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of
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$100 per share for aggregate proceeds of $70 million. The parties agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon
the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023.

On April 21, 2023, the Company received the Foxconn Notice (1) asserting that the Company was in breach of the Investment
Agreement due to its previously disclosed receipt of the Nasdaq Notice indicating that the Company was no longer in compliance
with the Bid Price Requirement, and (2) purporting to terminate the Investment Agreement if the breach is not cured within 30
days. In response, the Company notified Foxconn in writing on April 25, 2023 that (1) it believes the breach allegations in the
Foxconn Notice are without merit, (2) the Investment Agreement by its terms, does not permit Foxconn to terminate the
Investment Agreement following the Initial Closing, and (3) in any event, Foxconn cannot exercise termination rights because
Foxconn has breached the Investment Agreement by failing to use necessary efforts to agree upon the EV Program budget and
EV Program milestones to facilitate the Subsequent Preferred Funding.

On May 1, 2023, after having publicly disclosed the Foxconn Notice, the Company received the Second Foxconn Notice (1)
indicating that Foxconn agrees that it is unable to terminate the Investment Agreement after the Initial Closing, (2) asserting that
the Nasdaq Notice constitutes a breach of a representation that is a condition to the Subsequent Common Closing and, therefore,
Foxconn is not obligated to consummate the Subsequent Common Closing until such breach is cured, and (3) asserting that the
Company’s claims regarding Foxconn’s breach of the Investment Agreement with respect to the EV Program and Subsequent
Preferred Funding are without merit.  

The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and Foxconn is obligated to
complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. The Company intends to enforce its contractual rights and
remedies under the Investment Agreement, including with respect to Foxconn’s breach regarding the EV Program budget and EV
Program milestones, its funding obligations and its knowing and intentional efforts to invalidly terminate the Investment
Agreement without any basis and withhold critical funding to the material detriment of the Company.

The Company is in discussions with Foxconn to seek a resolution regarding these matters; however, to date, the parties are at an
impasse and Foxconn has indicated that it does not intend the close the Subsequent Common Closing on May 8, 2023 and we
do not expect Foxconn to provide its approval to the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones by May 7, 2023. No
assurances can be given that the parties will reach a resolution of these matters or that any such resolution will allow the
Subsequent Common Closing or the Subsequent Preferred Funding to occur on a timely basis. If the Subsequent Common
Closing is delayed or such fundings do not occur, the Company will be deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations.
The Company is evaluating its legal and financial alternatives in the event a resolution is not reached.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully or timely enforce our rights under the Investment Agreement. In
addition, the pending dispute creates uncertainty with respect to our prospects for developing future vehicles with and outsourcing
our Endurance production to Foxconn, any funding from other sources, our supplier arrangements and for our employees and
may entail substantial costs and diversion of personnel’s attention and resources due to these matters, each of which could have
a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

If the dispute is not resolved in a timely manner, we may not be able to raise the additional funding from Foxconn that is critical to
our operations which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and prospects. There is
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, we need significant additional financing and our ability to raise
additional capital is extremely limited. If we are unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow
us to continue operating as planned, identify other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant
contingent liabilities, we may need to further curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief
under the Bankruptcy Code. If this were to occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and
stockholders, is uncertain.
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Even if the dispute raised by the Foxconn Notice is resolved and we complete the Subsequent Common Closing, we may be
unable to establish the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones and achieve such milestones that will be conditions to
the Subsequent Preferred Funding. Further, implementation of the EV Program will require substantial funding beyond the
amounts contemplated by the Investment Agreement and effective cooperation by the parties to establish plans, processes, a
budget and milestones and to timely and effectively fulfill these commitments. Our ability to undertake these actions depends on
many variables, which could include establishment and satisfaction of EV Program milestones and other conditions required to be
met at the time of funding, and our ability to utilize the designs, engineering data and other foundational work of Foxconn, its
affiliates, and other members of the MIH consortium as well as other parties, and that all such parties adhere to timelines to
develop, commercialize, industrialize, homologate and certify a vehicle in North America, along with variables that are out of the
parties’ control, such as technology, innovation, adequate funding, supply chain and other economic conditions, competitors,
customer demand and other factors. If we are unable to obtain the additional funding that is needed or the parties are otherwise
unable to successfully complete the steps required by the EV Program on a timely basis, our business plan, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely impaired.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and, if we are unable to resolve our dispute
with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to continue operating as planned, identify other sources of
funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent liabilities, we may need to further curtail or
cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The design, manufacture and sale of vehicles requires
substantial capital and is a complex business. We have incurred significant losses since inception and our business plan to
design, produce, sell and service the Endurance and additional vehicles requires substantial additional capital in the near term.

Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to effectively resolve our dispute with Foxconn and
implement and realize the benefits of the Foxconn Transactions, raise substantial additional capital, scale the production of the
Endurance and develop additional vehicles. The Company’s current level of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
are not sufficient to execute our business plan. For the foreseeable future, we will incur significant operating expenses, capital
expenditures and working capital funding that will deplete our cash on hand. As a result of having insufficient capital to execute
our business plan, we have made and are continuing to make trade-offs with respect to how we allocate our capital, including
substantially limiting investments in tooling, other aspects of the Endurance and our operations. The trade-offs we are making,
including related to hard tooling, have and are likely to continue to result in higher costs for the Company in the future and are
likely to slow or impair future design enhancements or options we may otherwise seek to make available to Endurance
customers.

We also have meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing litigation and regulatory proceedings for which
insurance coverage has been denied for certain claims and may be unavailable for those and other claims. While we have
engaged and continue to engage in discussions with the parties in these proceedings, we have not been able to reach a
resolution of these matters. See Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies for additional information.

We entered into the Investment Agreement to facilitate additional funding from Foxconn; however, the availability of this funding is
subject to significant uncertainty, as discussed above. We also entered into the Sales Agreement for the ATM Offering under
which we may sell up to approximately 50.2 million shares of Class A common stock from time to time through at-the-market
offerings by Jefferies, as agent. In the future, any additional sales will depend on a variety of factors, including the sales price of
the Class A common stock being at least $1.00, higher than the current price, and continued compliance with exchange listing
requirements. No assurance can be given that the Company would sell any shares of Class A common stock under the Sales
Agreement, or, if it does, as to the price or amount of the shares that it sells or the dates when such sales will take place and,
even if additional funds are raised under the ATM Offering, the Company will require additional financing to execute its business
plan.
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Even if the ATM Offering resumes and is successful, and we receive all the funds contemplated by the Investment Agreement, we
need significant additional funding to execute our business plan, including production of the Endurance and developing other
vehicles, due to the capital required to complete testing and validation, purchase the raw materials and vehicle components for
saleable vehicles, invest in tooling and equipment and fund future engineering, operating and corporate expenditures, and
address contingent liabilities.

We received the Nasdaq Notice regarding our non-compliance with the Nasdaq listing requirements on April 19, 2023 and we are
currently evaluating various courses of action to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement (see Note 9 – Subsequent
Events – Nasdaq Notice). No assurance can be given that the Company will regain compliance or, if regains compliance, that it
will remain in compliance for any period of time.

In an effort to alleviate these conditions, our management continues to seek and evaluate opportunities to raise additional funds
through the issuance of equity or debt securities, asset sales, through arrangements with strategic partners or through financing
from government or financial institutions and seek strategic partners to scale the Endurance program or develop other vehicles.
We have engaged a financial advisor to advise the Company on additional financing alternatives.

Our ability to obtain additional financing is extremely limited under current market conditions, in particular for our industry, and
also influenced by other factors including the significant amount of capital required, the Foxconn dispute, the fact that the BOM
cost of the Endurance is currently, and expected to continue to be, substantially higher than our selling price, uncertainty
surrounding the performance of any vehicle produced by us, meaningful exposure to material losses and costs related to ongoing
litigation and the SEC investigation, the Nasdaq Notice, the market price of our stock and potential dilution from the issuance of
any additional securities. To date, we have not identified a strategic partner for the Endurance and there can be no assurance that
we will do so. To the extent we do not identify such a partner, we anticipate that production of the Endurance will cease in the
near future. Further, there can be no assurance that such financing would be available to us on favorable terms or at all. If we are
unable to resolve our dispute with Foxconn in a timely manner on terms that allow us to continue operating as planned, identify
other sources of funding, identify a strategic partner and resolve our significant contingent liabilities, we may need to further
curtail or cease operations and seek protection by filing a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code. If this were to
occur, the value available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and trading prices for
our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by holders of our securities in bankruptcy
proceedings, if any.

Doubts about our ability to continue as a going concern have and could continue to impact our relationships with our suppliers,
vendors, and other third parties and our ability to obtain, maintain or renew agreements with them, or negatively impact our
negotiating leverage with such parties, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations. Furthermore, any loss of key personnel, employee attrition or material erosion of employee morale arising out of
doubts about our ability to operate as a going concern could have a material adverse effect on our ability to effectively conduct
our business, and could impair our ability to execute our business plan, thereby having a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In the event we pursue bankruptcy protection, we will be subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with such
proceedings.

Given our current financial condition, we have engaged advisors to assist the Company in considering the strategic alternatives
available to the Company, which may include filing for bankruptcy protection. While we have not initiated bankruptcy proceedings,
we caution that trading in our Class A common stock is highly speculative and poses substantial risks relating to the potential of
bankruptcy proceedings. Trading prices for our securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by
holders of our securities in bankruptcy proceedings.
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In the event we file for bankruptcy protection, the value that will be available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors
and stockholders, is uncertain and our operations, our ability to develop and execute our business plan, our continuation as a
going concern, and our ability to generate value for stakeholders, if any, will be subject to the risks and uncertainties associated
with bankruptcy proceedings, including, among others: our ability to execute, confirm and consummate a plan of reorganization or
liquidation, or to negotiate and consummate a sale or other transaction with a third party; the potentially high costs of bankruptcy
proceedings and related fees; the sufficiency of the company’s cash on hand and ability to obtain sufficient financing to allow us
to conduct our business during the bankruptcy proceedings, confirm a plan of reorganization or sell some or all of our assets
during the bankruptcy proceedings in orderly fashion, emerge from bankruptcy and execute our business plan post-emergence
(should we emerge), and our ability to comply with terms and conditions of any such financing; our ability to continue our
operations in the ordinary course; our ability to maintain our relationships with our suppliers, vendors, customers and other third
parties; our ability to obtain, maintain or renew agreements that are critical to our operations on reasonably acceptable terms and
conditions; our ability to attract, motivate and retain key employees; the ability of third parties to use certain limited safe harbor
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code to terminate contracts without first seeking Bankruptcy Court approval; the ability of third
parties to force us to into Chapter 7 proceedings, rather than Chapter 11 proceedings; and the actions and decisions of our
stakeholders and other third parties who have interests in our bankruptcy proceedings that may be inconsistent with our
operational and strategic plans. Any delays in our bankruptcy proceedings associated with the bankruptcy process could result in
prolonged operational disruption for the Company, increase the costs and risks associated with the bankruptcy process, and
diminish the value, if any, that is available to our various stakeholders (including creditors and stockholders). Also, we would need
the prior approval of the bankruptcy court for transactions outside the ordinary course of business during the course of any
bankruptcy proceedings, which may limit our ability to respond timely to certain events or take advantage of certain opportunities.
Because of the risks and uncertainties associated with any bankruptcy proceedings, we cannot accurately predict or quantify the
ultimate impact of events that could occur during any such proceedings. There can be no guarantees that if we seek bankruptcy
protection we will emerge from bankruptcy protection as a going concern or be able to sell some or all or our assets in orderly
fashion, that we will otherwise realize any significant value for our assets, or that our creditors or stockholders (including holders
of our Class A common stock) will receive any recovery from any bankruptcy proceedings.

In the event we do not elect or are unable to pursue bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, or,
if pursued, that we are not able to successfully sell all or some of our assets in orderly fashion or to successfully
emerge from Chapter 11 proceedings, it may be necessary to pursue bankruptcy protection under Chapter 7 of the
Bankruptcy Code for all or a part of our business.

In the event we do not elect or are unable to pursue bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, or, if
pursued, that we are not able to successfully sell all or some of our assets in orderly fashion or to, successfully emerge from
Chapter 11 proceedings, it may be necessary for us to pursue bankruptcy protection under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code for
all or a part of our businesses. In such event, a Chapter 7 trustee would be appointed or elected to liquidate our assets for
distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. Although the value, if any, that would be
available to any of our various stakeholders (including creditors and stockholders) would be uncertain in any bankruptcy
proceeding, we believe that liquidation under Chapter 7 would result in significantly smaller distributions being made to our
stakeholders than those we might obtain under Chapter 11 primarily because of the likelihood that the assets would have to be
sold or otherwise disposed of in a distressed fashion over a short period of time rather than in a controlled manner and as a going
concern.

We face risks and uncertainties related to ongoing and potential future litigation and claims, as well as regulatory
actions and government investigations and inquiries, for which we will continue to incur significant legal costs and may
be subject to significant uninsured losses and these contingencies have impaired and continue to impair our ability to
obtain financing.
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We are currently subject to extensive litigation, including securities class action litigation, shareholder derivative suits, a
stockholder class action, an SEC investigation, and litigation involving alleged trade secret misappropriation, unfair competition
and other related claims, among other disputes. We may in the future be subject to, or become a party to, additional litigation,
claims, regulatory actions, and government investigations and inquiries, as we may be subject to claims by customers, suppliers,
vendors, contractors, competitors, government agencies, stockholders or other parties regarding our products, development,
accidents, advertising, securities, contract and corporate matter disputes, intellectual property infringement matters and employee
claims against us based on, among other things, discrimination, harassment, wrongful termination, disability or violation of wage
and labor laws. These proceedings and incidents include claims for which we have no or limited insurance coverage.

These claims have diverted and may in the future divert our financial and management resources that would otherwise be used to
benefit our operations, increase our insurance costs and cause reputational harm. We have already incurred, and expect to
continue to incur, significant legal expenses in defending against these claims. Further, the ongoing expense of lawsuits,
investigations and any substantial settlement payment by us or damage award enforceable against us could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

While we currently carry commercial general liability, commercial automobile liability, product liability, excess liability, workers’
compensation, cyber security and directors’ and officers’ insurance policies, coverage amounts are limited and we may not
maintain as much insurance coverage as other OEMs do. In some cases, we may not maintain any insurance coverage at
all. Additionally, the policies that we do have may include significant deductibles and exclusions, and we cannot be certain that
our insurance coverage will be applicable to or sufficient to cover all current and future claims against us.

Our insurers have asserted a denial of coverage under the main tower of our director and officer insurance program with respect
to numerous ongoing matters, including the consolidated securities class action, various shareholder derivative actions, the
consolidated stockholder class action, various demands for inspection of books and records, the SEC investigation, and the
investigation by the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York, and certain indemnification obligations,
under an exclusion to the policy called the “retroactive date exclusion.” The insurer has identified other potential coverage issues
as well. Excess coverage attaches only after the underlying insurance has been exhausted, and generally applies in conformance
with the terms of the underlying insurance. We are analyzing the insurer’s position, and intend to pursue any available coverage
under this policy and other insurance. As a result of the denial of coverage, no or limited insurance may be available to us to
reimburse our expenses or cover any potential losses for these matters, which could be significant. The insurers in our Side A
D&O insurance program, providing coverage for individual directors and officers in derivative actions and certain other situations,
have issued a reservation of rights letter which, while not denying coverage, has cast doubt on the availability of coverage for at
least some individuals and/or claims.

In addition, in the event the Company pursues bankruptcy protection, we may be subject to additional litigation or other claims
related to a bankruptcy or dissolution and liquidation, and resolution of outstanding claims will be subject to the bankruptcy
process.

At this time, the Company cannot predict the results of many of the current proceedings, and future resolution of these matters
could result in changes in management's estimates of losses, which could be material to our consolidated financial statements.
As of March 31, 2023, we have an aggregate provision for potential settlements of litigation of $34.7 million. This provision is
based on current information, legal advice and the potential impact of the outcome of one or more claims on related matters and
may be increased in the future based on new developments. This accrual does not reflect a full range of possible outcomes for
these proceedings or the full amount of any damages alleged, which are significantly higher. While we believe that additional
losses beyond current accruals are likely, and any such additional losses may be significant, we cannot presently estimate a
possible loss contingency or range of reasonably possible loss contingencies beyond current accruals. Estimating probable
losses requires the analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often depend on judgments and potential actions by third parties.
Legal fees and costs of litigation or an adverse judgment or settlement in any one or more of our ongoing litigation matters that
are not insured or



51

that is in excess of insurance coverage could significantly exceed our current accrual and ability to pay. This would have a
material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations and could adversely affect our ability to raise additional
capital, and severely curtail or cause our operations to cease entirely. Furthermore, our ability to raise the additional capital we
need to execute our business plans is adversely impacted by the potential material adverse effect of any one or more of the
pending litigations, SEC investigation and related ongoing significant legal costs. Unless we are able to obtain substantial
additional funding, given our current lack of liquidity, it is reasonably likely that any adverse judgment, settlement, or court order
requiring the payment of a significant amount of damages would be settled under bankruptcy protection.

We have faced and expect to continue to face supply chain challenges affecting our access to critical raw materials and
components in appropriate quantities and of appropriate quality, and may be unable to adequately maintain or establish
supplier relationships or control the costs or maintain adequate supply of components and raw materials to facilitate
our development plans and production timeline.

We rely on third-party suppliers for the provision and development of many of the key components and materials used in our
vehicles. Disruptions to the supply chain have resulted in and may continue to present challenges for obtaining certain
components and raw materials in a timely manner, of appropriate quality and/or at favorable pricing. For example, in the first
quarter of 2023, performance and quality issues with certain Endurance components led us to temporarily pause production and
customer deliveries and to voluntarily recall the Endurance while we worked with our supplier network to implement corrective
actions. We continue to monitor closely the key components that are in short supply and ongoing quality issues; however, no
assurances can be given that part availability and quality will not restrict production further.

Inflation also has significantly impacted the prices of key raw materials included in the Endurance and its components as well as
labor costs and certain indirect costs, such as utilities. Furthermore, currency fluctuations, labor shortages, tariffs or shortages in
petroleum, steel and aluminum or other raw materials, the direct and indirect effects of the war in Ukraine and other economic or
political conditions have impacted the transportation industry and resulted and may continue to result in significant increases in
freight charges, delays in obtaining critical materials or changes in the specifications for those materials.

Moreover, our low production volumes have contributed to certain production suppliers curtailing or ceasing supply, or in some
cases, materially raising the prices we must pay for certain components or imposing termination costs. Due to these factors and
our limited initial production volume, our current BOM cost is substantially higher than the current selling price of the Endurance.

These factors have impacted and are expected to continue to impact our testing and production costs, and volume and timeline
for production. As a result, we may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with our operations, even with continued
refinement of our operating plan, and the prices for and availability, timing, terms and quality of these materials may fluctuate
depending on factors beyond our control, which may negatively impact our production timeline and volume, sales, reputation,
profitability and cash flows.

In addition, further production delays, curtailed operations, continuing doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern,
the dispute with Foxconn and the initiation of any bankruptcy proceedings could further adversely affect our relationships with our
suppliers, vendors, customers, employees, and other third parties, and our ability to negotiate favorable terms with them. Public
perception of our continued viability may affect, among other things, the desire of new and existing customers, vendors,
employees, or other third parties to enter into or continue their agreements or arrangements with us. The failure to maintain any
of these important relationships could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. If we seek
bankruptcy protection, we would also need the prior approval of the bankruptcy court for transactions outside the ordinary course
of business, which may lead to delays and/or limit our ability to respond timely to certain events or take advantage of certain
opportunities. Any further delays or other negative events during the pendency any bankruptcy protection could result in
prolonged operational disruption for the Company,
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increase the costs and risks associated with the bankruptcy process, and diminish the value, if any, that is available to our various
stakeholders (including creditors and stockholders).

If we cannot regain compliance with Nasdaq continued listing standards, Nasdaq may delist our Class A common stock,
which could negatively affect the Company and our ability to raise additional capital, the price of the Class A common
stock and stockholders’ ability to sell Class A common stock.

On April 19, 2023, the Company received the Notice from Nasdaq indicating that, because the closing bid price for the
Company’s Class A common stock had fallen below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive business days (March 7, 2023 through
April 18, 2023), the Company was no longer in compliance with the $1.00 Minimum Bid Price requirement set forth in Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) for continued listing on The Nasdaq Global Select Market. Pursuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5810(c)
(3)(A), the Company has a compliance cure period of 180 calendar days, or until October 16, 2023, to regain compliance with the
Bid Price Requirement. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of the Company’s Class A common stock must meet or
exceed $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days prior to October 16, 2023.

If the Company does not regain compliance by October 16, 2023, the Company may be eligible for an additional grace period. To
qualify, the Company must apply to transfer the listing of the Class A common stock to The Nasdaq Capital Market, which
requires the Company to meet the continued listing requirements for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial
listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the Bid Price Requirement, and provide written notice of its
intention to cure the minimum bid price deficiency during the second compliance cure period. If the Company meets these
requirements, the Nasdaq staff would be expected to grant an additional 180 calendar days for the Company to regain
compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. 

The Company is currently evaluating various courses of action to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement, including
implementing a reverse stock split if such action is authorized by the Company’s stockholders. In anticipation of receipt of the
Nasdaq Notice, on April 11, 2023, the Company filed the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting, which included the Reverse
Stock Split Proposal to amend the Charter to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s Class A common stock at a reverse
stock split ratio ranging from 1:3 to 1:15, and to authorize the Company’s board of directors to determine, at its discretion, the
timing of the amendment and the specific ratio of the reverse stock split.

There can be no assurance that stockholders will approve the Reverse Stock Split Proposal at the Annual Meeting, that a reverse
stock split, if implemented, will increase the market price of the Class A common stock in proportion to the reduction in the
number of shares of the Class A common stock outstanding before the reverse stock split or, even if it does, that such price will
be maintained for any period of time.

Further, Nasdaq may use its discretionary authority to suspend or terminate the listing of a company that has filed for protection
under any provision of the Bankruptcy Code. It is possible that Nasdaq may exercise its discretion in the event we pursue
bankruptcy protection.

If we fail to regain compliance and Nasdaq takes action to delist our Class A common stock, our ability to consummate the
Subsequent Common Closing or Subsequent Preferred Funding, and raise additional financing through the public or private sale
of equity securities would be impaired. Delisting our Class A common stock would also adversely impact our liquidity, impair our
stockholders’ ability to buy and sell our Class A common stock, and the market price of our Class A common stock could
decrease. Delisting our Class A common stock could also adversely impact the perception of our financial condition and have
additional negative ramifications, including loss of confidence by our employees, the loss of institutional investor interest and
fewer business opportunities.
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If authorized by our stockholders, our Board would have the discretion to implement a reverse stock split to regain
compliance with the Bid Price Requirement and we cannot predict the effect that any reverse stock split will have on the
market price for shares of our Class A common stock.

If the Company’s stockholders approve the Reverse Stock Split Proposal at the Annual Meeting, the Board would have the
discretion to implement a reverse stock split in order to regain compliance with the Bid Price Requirement. We cannot predict the
effect that a reverse stock split will have on the market price for shares of our Class A common stock, and the history of similar
reverse stock splits for companies in like circumstances has varied. Some investors may have a negative view of a reverse stock
split. Even if a reverse stock split has a positive effect on the market price for shares of our Class A common stock, performance
of our business and financial results, general economic conditions and the market perception of our business, and other adverse
factors which may not be in our control could lead to a decrease in the price of our Class A common stock following the reverse
stock split.

Furthermore, even if the reverse stock split does result in an increased market price per share of our Class A common stock, the
market price per share following the reverse stock split may not increase in proportion to the reduction of the number of shares of
our common stock outstanding before the implementation of the reverse stock split. Accordingly, even with an increased market
price per share, the total market capitalization of shares of our Class A common stock after a reverse stock split could be lower
than the total market capitalization before the reverse stock split. Also, even if there is an initial increase in the market price per
share of our Class A common stock after a reverse stock split, the market price may not remain at that level.

If the market price of shares of our Class A common stock declines following a reverse stock split, the percentage decline as an
absolute number and as a percentage of our overall market capitalization may be greater than would occur in the absence of the
reverse stock split due to decreased liquidity in the market for our Class A common stock. Accordingly, the total market
capitalization of our Class A common stock following the reverse stock split could be lower than the total market capitalization
before the reverse stock split.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

N/A

Item 5. Other Information

N/A
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Index

Exhibit No. Description

4.1* Description of Capital Stock
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
32.1* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
32.2* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
99.1 Order entered by the Delaware Court of Chancery on February 28, 2023 in In re Lordstown Motors Corp., C.A. No. 2023-

0083-LWW (Del. Ch.)(incorporated by reference to the annual report on Form 10-K filed by the Company on March 6, 2023)
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL

tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Exhibit 104* Cover Page Interactive Data File – The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because

its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Filed herewith

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759546/000155837023002862/ride-20221231xex99d1.htm
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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Date:  May 4, 2023 /s/ Edward T. Hightower
Edward T. Hightower
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:  May 4, 2023 /s/ Adam Kroll
Adam Kroll
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 4.1

LORDSTOWN MOTORS CORP.
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
AS OF MARCH 31, 2023

As of March 31, 2023, Lordstown Motors Corp. (“we,” “our,” “us” or the “Company”) had the following class of securities registered under Section
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share.

The following is a summary of the material terms of our Class A common stock as of March 31, 2023 It is not intended to be a complete summary of
the rights and preferences of our securities, and is qualified by reference to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended 
(“Charter”) and Amended and Restated Bylaws (“Bylaws”) described herein, which are included as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this 
exhibit forms a part, and the applicable provisions of Delaware law.  Defined terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such
terms in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part.

Authorized and Outstanding Stock

Class A Common Stock

The Charter authorizes the issuance of 462,000,000 shares of capital stock, $0.0001 par value per share, consisting of 450,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock and 12,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. The outstanding shares of Class A common stock are duly authorized, validly issued,
fully paid and non-assessable.

Voting Power

Except as otherwise required by law or as otherwise provided in any certificate of designation for any series of preferred stock, the holders of Class A
common stock possess all voting power for the election of our directors and all other matters requiring stockholder action, and at all times vote together as one
class on all matters properly submitted to a vote of the stockholders. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted
on by stockholders.

Dividends

Holders of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive such dividends and other distributions, if any, as may be declared from time to time by
the board of directors in its discretion out of funds legally available therefor and shall share equally on a per share basis in such dividends and distributions.

Liquidation, Dissolution and Winding Up

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or winding up, holders of the Class A common stock will be
entitled to receive an equal amount per share of all of our assets of whatever kind available for distribution to stockholders, after the rights of the holders of the
preferred stock have been satisfied.

Preemptive or Other Rights

Our stockholders have no preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to Class A
common stock.

Election of Directors

Our Charter provides that our board of directors is divided into three classes, each of which generally serves for a term of three years with only one
class of directors being elected in each year. There is no cumulative voting with respect to the election of directors.



Preferred Stock

Our Charter provides that shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. Our board of directors is authorized to fix
the voting rights, if any, designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional, special and other rights, if any, of each such series and any
qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof. Our board of directors is able to, without stockholder approval, issue preferred stock with voting and other
rights that could adversely affect the voting power and other rights of the holders of the Class A common stock and could have anti-takeover effects. The
ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of
control of us or the removal of existing management.

Effective November 18, 2022, our board of directors designated a series of our preferred stock as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred 
Stock”), authorizing 1,000,000 shares. We have 300,000 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding as of the date hereof.  The Preferred Stock ranks senior to our 
Class A common stock with respect to dividend rights, rights on the distribution of assets on any liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company and 
redemption rights. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up, holders of the Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive distributions in cash in an amount 
per share equal to the greater of (1) the sum of $100 per share plus the accrued unpaid dividends with respect to such share and (2) the amount the holder 
would have received had it converted such share into Class A common stock immediately prior to the date of such event, before any distributions shall be 
made on any shares of our Class A common stock. In addition, holders of the Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends at a rate equal to 8% per annum, 
which accrue and accumulate whether or not declared. The holders of the Preferred Stock also participate with any dividends payable in respect of any junior 
or parity stock.

Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Charter and the Bylaws

Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our Charter provides that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, or the
board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the board of directors. Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series
of preferred stock, and to the requirements of applicable law, stockholders may not call special meetings.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Our Bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders, or to nominate candidates for election as
directors at our annual meeting of stockholders, must provide timely notice of their intent in writing among other requirements. To be timely, a stockholder’s
notice will need to be received by our secretary at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the 90th day nor earlier than the open
of business on the 120th day prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders, provided, however, that in the event
that the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date (or if there has been no prior annual meeting), notice by
the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day before the meeting and not later than the later of (x)
the close of business on the 90th day before the meeting or (y) the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the
date of the annual meeting is first made by us. Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act, proposals seeking inclusion in our annual proxy statement must
comply with the notice periods contained in such rule. Director nominations must also comply with the notice requirements of Rule 14a-19.

Our Bylaws specify certain requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice for an annual meeting. These provisions may limit our
stockholders’ ability to bring matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or make nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders.

Authorized but Unissued Shares

Our authorized but unissued Class A common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuances without stockholder approval and could be
utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of
authorized but unissued and



unreserved Class A common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest,
tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Exclusive Forum Selection for Certain Lawsuits

The Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, a state court
located within the State of Delaware (or, if no court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware)
shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any internal or intra-corporate claim or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine as
defined by the laws of the State of Delaware, including, but not limited to (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders; or (iii) any
action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Charter or the Bylaws (in each case, as they may be amended from time to time),
or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for any action asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act or any rule or regulation promulgated
thereunder (in each case, as amended) shall be the federal district court for the District of Delaware (or, if such court does not have jurisdiction over such
action, any other federal district court of the United States); provided, however, that if the foregoing provisions are, or the application of such provisions to any
person or entity or any circumstance is, illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the sole and exclusive forum for any action asserting a cause of action arising under
the Securities Act or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder (in each case, as amended) will be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in our shares of capital stock will be deemed to
have notice of and consented to the forum provision in the Charter.

Although we believe the forum provision of our Charter benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the
types of lawsuits to which it applies, a court may determine that this provision is unenforceable, and to the extent it is enforceable, the provision may have the
effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

The Charter provides that the exclusive forum provision will be applicable to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Section 27 of the
Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and
regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or
any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. This statute prevents certain Delaware corporations,
under certain circumstances, from engaging in a “business combination” with:

● a stockholder who owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock (otherwise known as an “interested stockholder”);

● an affiliate of an interested stockholder; or

● an associate of an interested stockholder, for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder.

● A “business combination” includes a merger or sale of more than 10% of our assets. However, the above provisions of Section 203 do not apply
if:

● our board of directors approves the transaction that made the stockholder an interested stockholder,” prior to the date of the transaction;



● after the completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, that stockholder owned at least 85% of
our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, other than statutorily excluded shares of common stock; or

● on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and authorized at a meeting of our
stockholders, and not by written consent, by an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested
stockholder.

Classified Board

Our Charter provides that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors. As a result, in most circumstances, a person can gain
control of our board of directors only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or more annual meetings.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Charter limits our directors’ liability to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. The DGCL provides that directors of a corporation will not
be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability:

● for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit;

● for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

● for any unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or

● for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders.

If the DGCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of our
directors will be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended.

Delaware law and the Charter provide that we will, in certain situations, indemnify our directors and officers and may (as provided in the Bylaws)
indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified person is also entitled, subject to certain limitations, to
advancement, direct payment, or reimbursement of reasonable expenses (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) in advance of the final disposition of the
proceeding.

In addition, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and officers. These agreements, among other things, require
us to indemnify our directors and officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, and settlement amounts incurred by a director or
officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one of our directors or officers or as a director or officer of any other company or enterprise
to which the person provides services at our request.

We maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and officers are insured against liability for actions taken in
their capacities as directors and officers. We believe these provisions in the Charter and the Bylaws and these indemnification agreements are necessary to
attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Edward Hightower, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lordstown Motors Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  May 4, 2023

/s/ Edward T. Hightower  
Edward T. Hightower  
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Adam Kroll, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lordstown Motors Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

Date:  May 4., 2023

/s/ Adam Kroll     
Adam Kroll
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADDED BY
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lordstown Motors Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Edward Hightower, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

May 4, 2023

By: /s/ Edward T. Hightower
Edward T. Hightower
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

​ ​



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADDED BY
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lordstown Motors Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Adam Kroll, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1350, as added by §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

May 4, 2023

/s/Adam Kroll
Adam Kroll
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

​ ​ ​ ​


